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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Good morning

          3  everyone.  My name is Kendall Stewart and I am the

          4  Chair of the Immigration Committee.  I would like to

          5  thank all of you for coming today. Today's Hearing

          6  will focus on federal Comprehensive Immigration

          7  Reform and the interests of New York City's

          8  immigrants in this debate.

          9                 Any look at the nation's immigration

         10  policy, regardless of the perspective of the viewer,

         11  reveals a dysfunctional system that is in dire need

         12  of reform.  The existing immigration laws are

         13  profoundly out of synch with the current needs of

         14  families and businesses in the United States.

         15  Outdated policies keep American families separated

         16  from loved ones in other countries, some for more

         17  than 20 years, due to the nation's backlog family

         18  immigration system.

         19                 The presence of large numbers of

         20  unauthorized immigrants in the nation's workforce is

         21  indisputable and employers, faced with an

         22  insufficient pool of legal workers, increasingly

         23  rely on hard- working but unauthorized workers.

         24  States and localities, in the absence of federal

         25  action to fix the chaotic system, are left to
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          2  independently figure out how to deal with the

          3  growing undocumented population.

          4                 This grave disconnect has also given

          5  rise to a vast underground economy characterized by

          6  criminal smugglers, false documents and millions of

          7  undocumented immigrants who are vulnerable to

          8  exploitation.  Currently, there are estimated to be

          9  more than 12 million immigrants in the United States

         10  without legal documentation.  Each year, an

         11  estimated 300,000 or more join the population.

         12                 People who attempt to come to the

         13  United States to work or join family are mired in

         14  outdated immigrations laws and an unpredictable

         15  immigration bureaucracy.  In the decade and a half

         16  since the nation's immigration laws were last

         17  updated, the number of immigrant visas available has

         18  remained static, while the demand has grown, from

         19  American families seeking to reunite with loved ones

         20  in other countries and from American employers

         21  seeking workers.

         22                 On March 22nd of this year,

         23  representatives Luis Gutierrez of Illinois and Jeff

         24  Flake of Arizona, along with 28 other co-sponsors,

         25  including Representatives Joseph Crowley and Jose
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          2  Serrano of New York, introduced the Security Through

          3  Regularized Immigration and a Vibrant Economy Act,

          4  also known as the STRIVE Act.  This is a new

          5  comprehensive immigration reform bill with

          6  bipartisan support.

          7                 Among other provisions, the STRIVE

          8  Act endeavors to strengthen border security and

          9  interior enforcement, establish an employment

         10  verification system, provide a new worker program

         11  for the future flow of immigrant workers and

         12  overhaul the family immigration system to reduce

         13  backlogs, create an earned legalized program for

         14  undocumented immigrants in the United States and

         15  facilitate the integration of immigrants.

         16                 While the STRIVE Act is promising,

         17  the Committee intends to learn from advocates whose

         18  issues have the greatest impact on immigrants in New

         19  York City, how this Act will or will not address

         20  those particular issues and what other comprehensive

         21  immigration reform initiatives should be implemented

         22  to address the specific needs of New York City

         23  immigrants.

         24                 I look forward to today's testimony

         25  on this critical issue and before we have our first
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          2  witness, I'd like to recognize that we have been

          3  joined by a Member of the Committee, Melissa Mark

          4  Viverito.  We have our able staff, Immigration

          5  Counsel Dan Serrano (phonetic) and Janine Ventura.

          6  I will now call our first witness, two witnesses,

          7  the first panel.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  I would like

          9  to call Avideh Moussavian from The New York

         10  Immigration Coalition and Cheryl Wertz from New

         11  Immigrant Community Empowerment.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I don't know if

         13  it's because the place is warm that we are so, you

         14  know, I know immigration is a very serious matter,

         15  but I'm honored to know that we are so quiet and

         16  everybody is attentive.  Now, before we start, just

         17  tell us who you are and then we can get right into

         18  the meat of the subject.

         19                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  There, that should

         20  be better. Good morning everyone and thank you,

         21  Council Member Stewart, for holding this important

         22  Hearing on immigration reform.  My name is Avideh

         23  Moussavian.  I'm the Director of Immigration Policy

         24  and Advocacy at The New York Immigration Coalition

         25  and we have over 200 member organizations throughout
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          2  New York State.  So, comprehensive immigration

          3  reform is a huge priority for our organization.

          4                 As you mentioned in your opening

          5  remarks, increasingly, immigration reform has been a

          6  very complex and emotional debate around the

          7  country.  Where we last left off last year, Congress

          8  was considering a proposal, H.R. 4437 or commonly

          9  referred to as the Sensenbrenner- King bill, which

         10  focused on draconian and punitive enforcement

         11  measures that would terrorize millions of immigrants

         12  who are hard- working.

         13                 We've had a historic response with

         14  literally millions of people around the country

         15  coming together who rejected that proposal and to

         16  defeat that proposal and to show that those measures

         17  are costly, that they're unrealistic and more

         18  importantly, they're inhumane and un- American.

         19                 So now, here we are in the 110th

         20  Congress and we face again this very complex and

         21  urgent challenge and the immigration reform debate

         22  is alive again.  We want to just point out, as the

         23  debate is unfolding, some of the principals for

         24  immigration reform that is important to our

         25  community members.
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          2                 Number one, providing a path to

          3  citizenship for immigrants who are currently in the

          4  U.S.  My testimony goes into this in every aspect of

          5  our principals in more detail than I think I have

          6  time to talk about today.  But, suffice it to say,

          7  that the status of an estimated 12 million

          8  immigrants living in this country and working to

          9  provide a better future for their families is

         10  uncertain.  So, they should be given the opportunity

         11  to legalize their status and be put on a path to

         12  citizenship.

         13                 So, we support a simple, inclusive

         14  legalization program for all.  Not one that would

         15  discriminate based on the length of time someone has

         16  been in the U.S. Or one that would require

         17  immigrants to leave the country before being able to

         18  come back in and regularize their status.

         19                 We also support the principal of

         20  protecting the rights of all workers, U.S. born and

         21  immigrant, and that they are all entitled to fair

         22  wages and working conditions to full protection

         23  under our labor laws as well.

         24                 We believe that legalization is

         25  actually a step towards helping to improve working
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          2  conditions for all workers, because rather than

          3  pitting low- wage workers against one another, we

          4  really want to level the playing field and reduce

          5  workers' vulnerability to exploitation, regardless

          6  of their immigration status.

          7                 We also need to improve workforce

          8  development and job opportunities for native-born

          9  workers and so we see immigration reform as an

         10  opportunity to do that.  Any new worker program must

         11  include portability or the right for workers to be

         12  able to switch jobs and not feel bound to one

         13  particular employer.  It also must provide a path to

         14  citizenship that allows them to continue to

         15  integrate themselves and their family members,

         16  rather than keeping them in a permanent uncertain

         17  status.  They also should be entitled to the same

         18  protections of our labor laws as native- born

         19  workers.

         20                 The third principal that's important

         21  to us in any immigration reform package is that we

         22  have to keep our families together.  Immigrants must

         23  be allowed to reunite with their family members

         24  without long years of separation due to unreasonable

         25  restrictions and bureaucratic backlogs.  In
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          2  addition, we need to end the current climate of

          3  using violent raids and deportations that are

          4  literally ripping families apart, in violation of

          5  fundamental rights.  Every day that passes without

          6  comprehensive immigration reform is a day when

          7  families are shattered by separation from

          8  deportations or waiting hopelessly years on end to

          9  be reunited with their family members.

         10                 A fourth important principal is

         11  restoring fundamental due process and civil rights.

         12  This includes providing access to courts, so that

         13  judges are not forced to detain and deport an

         14  individual without being able to make decisions

         15  based on individual circumstances.  It also includes

         16  ending extreme and unfair punishments by redefining

         17  the term aggravated felonies, which, under our

         18  current immigration laws, are illogically define to

         19  include many minor offenses for which a person may

         20  not have even served one day in jail.

         21                 We also believe that civil rights and

         22  restoring fundamental due process also means

         23  upholding the U.S. Supreme Court Decision against

         24  indefinite detention of non-citizens and providing

         25  alternatives to detention.
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          2                 Finally, the fifth principal I want

          3  to highlight today is making sure that all

          4  immigrants have opportunities for full civic

          5  participation and integration in our communities.

          6  Immigrants want to fully participate in our society,

          7  but we must give them the tools to do so.  Local

          8  communities need resources to provide English

          9  language classes, citizenship preparation and other

         10  support that immigrant families need to become fully

         11  participating members.

         12                 Now that I've outlined for you

         13  briefly and, again, in an abbreviated form than

         14  what's in my testimony, some of our principals, I

         15  want to move on to what the current debate in

         16  Congress is looking like and to express some areas

         17  of concern, as well as support, that we have for the

         18  STRIVE Act.

         19                 As you mentioned, three weeks ago, in

         20  the House of Representatives, Representatives

         21  Gutierrez, a democrat from Illinois and Congressman

         22  Flake, a republican from Arizona, introduced

         23  bipartisan legislation, the STRIVE Act, Security

         24  Through Regularized Immigration and a Vibrant

         25  Economy or H.R. 1645.  Currently, the bill has 39

                                                            13

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  co- sponsors and four of them are members of the New

          3  York Delegation, including Congressman Jose Serrano,

          4  Congresswoman Nydia Velazquez and Congressman

          5  Anthony Weiner and Congressman Joseph Crowley.

          6                 We recognize that the STRIVE Act is a

          7  significant improvement from where we were last

          8  year, with H.R. 4437 and that it attempts to bring

          9  comprehensive immigration reform to our inefficient

         10  and outdated system.  While we're committed to the

         11  goal of passing a comprehensive immigration reform

         12  bill and believe that the STRIVE Act is a step in

         13  the right direction, we also want to make sure that

         14  we pass a bill that is in line with our principals.

         15                 So, I want to identify for, for

         16  Members of the City Council several areas of concern

         17  about the STRIVE Act that we have that, as we ask

         18  Members of Congress to sign on and co sponsor the

         19  STRIVE Act, we also want to make them aware of these

         20  areas of improvement that we think are very

         21  important.

         22                 Currently, under the STRIVE Act,

         23  there are certain triggers that would have to be in

         24  place before any legalization program would be

         25  offered to the current undocumented population. Some
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          2  of those triggers include improvements in border

          3  surveillance technology and implementation of an

          4  Electronic Employment Verification System.  As a

          5  result, it's unclear from the legislation how long

          6  implementation of those triggers will take, but

          7  certainly it's clear that this will add an

          8  additional wait for the millions of immigrants who

          9  want to become full participants in American

         10  society.

         11                 Another area of concern is the need

         12  to protect public safety.  As we know here in New

         13  York City, we have a confidentiality order, called

         14  Executive Order 41, that prevents inquiries about

         15  someone's immigration status.  Unfortunately, there

         16  is some, some language in the STRIVE Act that seems

         17  to suggest or create incentives for localities and

         18  states to engage in enforcement of immigration law.

         19  While it attempts to be limited only to criminal

         20  immigration violations, like illegal reentries,

         21  there is still some language in there that, that we

         22  feel could be modified, so that it doesn't create

         23  these types of incentives for this cooperation

         24  between localities and the federal government.

         25                 There's also a provision that would
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          2  require the Social Security Administration to

          3  disclose taxpayer identification information of

          4  employers and workers when the Department of

          5  Homeland Security asks for that information.  So,

          6  the employer verification system that I mentioned

          7  would, raises some concerns.

          8                 There is strong language about

          9  protections and confidentiality and limited use of

         10  information in that employer verification system,

         11  but, we want to make sure that that remains very

         12  limited and that use of confidential information

         13  does not increase the potential for discrimination

         14  against certain workers who appear to be

         15  foreign-born.

         16                 I mentioned in our principals that we

         17  want to restore due process and that one of, one of

         18  the elements of that means redefining the definition

         19  of aggravated felonies.  There is currently no

         20  language in the STRIVE Act that, that would include

         21  a limited definition of aggravated felonies to only

         22  include felonies.  There's also no language in the

         23  STRIVE Act that would allow for some kind of

         24  judicial waivers, so that people who might not, who

         25  want to challenge their eligibility for a
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          2  legalization program, have an opportunity to go

          3  before an immigration judge and to be eligible for

          4  certain waivers.

          5                 I mentioned before that we support a

          6  broad and simple legalization program for everyone.

          7  There's a provision in the STRIVE Act that people

          8  are referring to as the touch back provision.  It

          9  sounds like it's something that you do in a sporting

         10  game, but it's actually a requirement that asks a

         11  head of each household to, sometime in the six year

         12  period before which they're eligible to get a green

         13  card, to leave the country at any port of entry and

         14  that that one head of household has to leave the

         15  country and then make a legal reentry before they

         16  and their family members are eligible for green

         17  cards.

         18                 There are certain exemptions for

         19  heads of household.  For example, if you're under 21

         20  or over 65, if you're a single parent and if you

         21  have certain disabilities or if you are a veteran.

         22  However, in general, this provision seems largely

         23  symbolic, incredibly costly and it could undermine

         24  people's ability to trust that if they leave, that

         25  they actually will have the opportunity to come
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          2  back.  We know that this is a bipartisan bill and,

          3  therefore, a product of compromise.  But, we really

          4  want to focus on sound and smart and effective

          5  policies, not things that are merely symbolic.

          6                 There are also concerns about, I

          7  mentioned that any new worker program should include

          8  portability for workers, so that they have the

          9  ability to switch jobs while they're here under

         10  conditional non- immigrant status.  Right now,

         11  there's language in the STRIVE Act that says that

         12  if, it would not allow a period of more than 60 days

         13  of unemployment.  We're just concerned about the

         14  limitations that that might presents and really

         15  making sure that workers have choices and real

         16  portability.

         17                 So, there's also one other provision

         18  I want to highlight and, again, this is, this is

         19  limited, in my testimony as well it's limited.  But,

         20  there's specific language in the bill about the

         21  DREAM Act, which, for those of you who are

         22  unfamiliar with it, it's a bill that essentially

         23  would provide a path to citizenship for young people

         24  who've grown up in this country without status, but

         25  essentially know no other country than the United
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          2  States as their home.  There's language in the

          3  legalization program that would put DREAM Act-

          4  eligible students at the back of the line of the

          5  legalization program.

          6                 So, those are some of the areas that

          7  we're trying to improve in the STRIVE Act, but,

          8  again, I would say that with these fixes, we support

          9  the STRIVE Act moving forward.  We recognize that

         10  it's a huge improvement upon last year and that it's

         11  certainly something that has re- energized the

         12  national debate on immigration reform.

         13                 Finally, since I don't have a watch

         14  and am unaware of how long I've taken, I want to be

         15  respectful of my co panelist, there's a current,

         16  there's a current political context I want to

         17  highlight for you today that's creating a

         18  humanitarian crisis that's arisen in recent months.

         19  That's the issue of raids in the workplaces and

         20  homes.  They've occurred in New York City. They've

         21  also occurred across the country.  While raids have

         22  been carried out for years, in recent months,

         23  they've really escalated and taken on a more

         24  pervasive and aggressive and large- scale scope.

         25                 So, across the country, localities
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          2  and states have spoken out against these raids.  I

          3  want to recognize that the City Council has also

          4  spoken out in support of comprehensive immigration

          5  reform in the past.  We're urging you, though, in

          6  light of this current, the current fear that's been

          7  created and the current political context of the

          8  raids today, to take a step towards issuing a

          9  resolution against these raids.

         10                 Instead of ripping families apart,

         11  we're really trying to emphasize that we need long-

         12  term solutions like integrating communities with,

         13  through a path to citizenship and through

         14  comprehensive immigration reform and to really speak

         15  out against these anti- family provisions that have

         16  resulted in separation of mothers from their

         17  children and family members from one another.

         18                 So, I urge you today, if you would

         19  move, move forward in the process of issuing a

         20  resolution calling for an end to the raids and

         21  demanding that Congress focus on comprehensive

         22  immigration reform and integration, rather than

         23  deportation of our community members.

         24                 On behalf of our 200 plus members, I

         25  want to thank you for taking the time to listen to
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          2  the details of our position on the STRIVE Act and I

          3  welcome any questions that you might have.  Thank

          4  you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Before you

          6  start, I just want to recognize that we have been

          7  joined by Council Member Darlene Mealy, Council

          8  Member Palma from the Bronx and Council Member

          9  Nelson from Brooklyn.  You may begin.

         10                 MS. WERTZ:  Thank you Council Member

         11  Stewart and Members of the Immigration Committee for

         12  hosting this important conversation this morning.

         13  My name is Cheryl Wertz and I'm the Director of

         14  Government Access at New Immigrant Community

         15  Empowerment or NICE.  Founded in 1999, NICE is a

         16  civil rights and civic advocacy, immigrant advocacy

         17  organization, working to ensure that all immigrants

         18  are informed, active and influential in civic,

         19  governmental and public affairs.

         20                 Among our other programs, NICE runs

         21  courses for English of Speakers of Second Language,

         22  English for Speakers of Other Languages and Civic

         23  Literacy for approximately 100 Northwest Queens

         24  residents.  Recently, our students have formed an

         25  Action Committee, to take a more active role in
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          2  advocating for legislative or policy changes that

          3  affect them, their families and their communities.

          4                 Unfortunately, scheduling, linguistic

          5  and status barriers make personal testimony by

          6  NICE's Action Committee members almost impossible.

          7  But, please keep in mind that my comments here this

          8  morning are based on conversations with those Action

          9  Committee members and, hopefully, represent their

         10  hopes and concerns regarding recent comprehensive

         11  immigration reform proposals.

         12                 The recent introduction of the STRIVE

         13  Act by Congressmen Gutierrez and Flake is an

         14  enormous leap forward in addressing America's need

         15  for real comprehensive immigration reform.  Compared

         16  to the unconscionable H.R. 4437, President Bush's

         17  guest worker program or even the legislation put

         18  forth by Senators McCain and Kennedy, the STRIVE Act

         19  provides a possible framework for viable, long- term

         20  solutions to the untenable situation facing 12

         21  million workers in America.

         22                 The most positive aspect of the

         23  STRIVE Act is that it provides the majority of

         24  undocumented community members an opportunity to

         25  gain legal status, including the right to work. For
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          2  millions of individuals, this equates to being able

          3  to come out of the shadows and participate fully in

          4  their new community.

          5                 Wage and hour laws in New York State

          6  apply to all workers, regardless of their legal

          7  status, but the tools required to access those

          8  rights are shrouded in risk and uncertainty for

          9  undocumented community members.  In 2004, NICE began

         10  to be contacted by local laborers, primarily but not

         11  exclusively, construction and restaurant workers,

         12  who had not been paid or had been severely underpaid

         13  for their work.

         14                 Just to give you some examples.  One

         15  individual worked for a full two weeks in a

         16  restaurant before demanding his paycheck.  He was

         17  fired on the spot and never paid for a single hour

         18  he had worked.  Other workers were taken to

         19  Pennsylvania, where they spent four days remodeling

         20  a home and then were abandoned in suburban

         21  Pennsylvania without a route back to New York City

         22  and without any pay.

         23                 NICE has been successful in helping

         24  clients take their unscrupulous employers to small

         25  claims court, but we do not have nearly the staff
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          2  capacity required to meet the overwhelming demand

          3  for these services.  Unfortunately, for every case

          4  in which workers are willing to take action against

          5  their employers, there are dozens of others in which

          6  workers do not dare to complain.

          7                 Undocumented workers may be willing

          8  to work extremely long hours for low wages because

          9  they feel trapped. Like millions of low- income

         10  Americans, they have families to support and rent to

         11  pay.  They will not risk a confrontation or legal

         12  action that may bring, bring them to the attention

         13  of immigration officials.

         14                 Unlike American workers who risk only

         15  being fired, undocumented workers often risk being

         16  deported away from their families to a country they

         17  may consider unsafe or the challenges of finding

         18  another job that does not require documentation.  As

         19  a direct result, unscrupulous employers can pit

         20  undocumented workers against documented immigrants

         21  and American workers in a race to the bottom of the

         22  wage scale.

         23                 Let me be clear, the problem is not

         24  that immigrant workers will accept lower wages.  The

         25  problem is that we have an immigration system that
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          2  enables the exploitation of one class of workers and

          3  thereby degrades the labor rights of all workers.

          4  The same race to the bottom can be seen in the

          5  workplace safety issues, particularly in the

          6  construction industry here in New York City.  As

          7  long as some workers are forced into unsafe working

          8  conditions, any worker who demands safety equipment

          9  or procedures is at risk of being replaced.

         10                 Guest worker programs, like those

         11  previously suggested by President Bush, would

         12  exacerbate these concerns. The President's proposal

         13  effectively ties workers to employers because it

         14  gave workers who quit their jobs or were fired for

         15  demanding their rights, only a limited period of

         16  time in which to find another guest worker- eligible

         17  position.

         18                 Given the limited number of guest

         19  worker visas the President proposed, these positions

         20  would be extremely difficult to get.  As a result,

         21  workers will again be placed in a position in which

         22  they are not really free to demand fair wages or

         23  safe working conditions.  Passage of the STRIVE Act,

         24  with its fair and fairly quick legalization

         25  procedures, would go a long way toward reducing
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          2  these concerns and protecting the working conditions

          3  of all employees in America.

          4                 But, the STRIVE Act is certainly not

          5  a panacea for the immigrant community.  While the

          6  conditional non- immigrant status that the STRIVE

          7  Act would create for currently undocumented

          8  individuals would give them the right to work, it

          9  does not allow for the reunification of currently

         10  divided families.  Under the STRIVE Act, workers

         11  could, under the STRIVE Act, workers could not

         12  achieve citizenship in less than 11 years and

         13  experts have estimated that the process would likely

         14  take closer to 15 years.

         15                 While the STRIVE Act does

         16  automatically confer conditional non- immigrant

         17  status to a worker's spouse and children who live in

         18  the United States, it does not allow workers to

         19  bring their family from other countries into the

         20  United States until they have become legal,

         21  permanent residents, a process which would take a

         22  minimum of six years.

         23                 In six years, babies will learn to

         24  walk, talk, run and read.  Children will establish

         25  their independence and become teenagers and
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          2  teenagers will learn to drive, make critical

          3  education and career choices and possibly start

          4  families of their own.  If we talk of family values,

          5  we must include parent's basic right to raise their

          6  children as a core component of any comprehensive

          7  immigration reform proposal.

          8                 Finally, the financial cost of

          9  legalization and citizenship under the STRIVE Act

         10  are simply unattainable for many immigrant families.

         11    In order to attain conditional non- immigrant

         12  status or the right to work legally, applicants

         13  currently living in the United States would be

         14  required to pay unspecified fees, which would be

         15  determined by the Department of Homeland Security,

         16  of $500.00 and a $500.00 fine.

         17                 In order to become legal, permanent

         18  residents, workers would be required to pay a

         19  further $1,500.00 fine and $900.00 adjustment of

         20  status fee and a $500.00 state impact adjustment

         21  fee, all back taxes and travel expenses to leave and

         22  re- enter the United States.

         23                 There will be an additional $595.00

         24  fee to attain citizenship.  These calculations do

         25  not include the cost of attorney's fees or the
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          2  significant time spent fulfilling these

          3  requirements.  Also, these numbers apply only to a

          4  single family member.  For additional family members

          5  to attain citizenship would certainly cost thousands

          6  of additional dollars.

          7                 Under President Bush's most recent

          8  immigration proposal that was just released last

          9  week, currently undocumented immigrants would be

         10  expected to pay upwards of $10,000.00 to become

         11  legal, permanent residents.  Just to put this in

         12  some perspective, the median income for workers in

         13  Queens is $30,000.00 a year.

         14                 Last spring, hundreds of immigrants

         15  and their allies, including certainly some Members

         16  of this Committee, took to the streets in peaceful

         17  protect.  They asked for the right to raise their

         18  families in security and to express their desire to

         19  fully participate in our civic process.  As a

         20  result, some of the most draconian anti- immigrant

         21  legislation that we have seen in a generation was

         22  defeated.

         23                 This spring, on the one year

         24  anniversary of our successful mobilization for human

         25  rights, immigrants and their allies will be
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          2  returning to the streets of New York.  As we

          3  continue this conversation today, I would like to

          4  ask for your help.  Please join us on May 1st, as we

          5  continue the struggle and please help us to ensure

          6  that the police will be on the streets to protect

          7  demonstrators and make everyone feel welcome to the

          8  streets of New York City, as we ask for fair

          9  immigration laws.

         10                 With your support, thousands of New

         11  Yorkers will send a clarion call to Congress and to

         12  the President of the United States that now is the

         13  time for passing real comprehensive immigration

         14  reform.  Thank you and I look forward to seeing you

         15  all on May 1st.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  As we examine

         17  the STRIVE Act, I have a couple of questions that

         18  maybe you would be able to help us.  You know, a

         19  part of the STRIVE Act calls for state and local law

         20  enforcement to assist in terms of the immigration

         21  enforcement and you know, we have in New York City

         22  Local Law 41. If this bill was to pass, how can we

         23  get around that in terms of adhering to Local Law

         24  41, but at the same time, the federal government

         25  passing this bill and so instructing local law

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  enforcement to carry out the immigration

          3  enforcement?

          4                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  So, the language,

          5  it's entitled to Section 215 of the STRIVE Act.  It

          6  recognizes that states and localities have an

          7  inherent authority to engage in enforcement of the

          8  criminal provisions of immigration law.  So, in my

          9  testimony I mentioned that it does limit it to the

         10  criminal violations and in most cases, when we're

         11  talking about immigration violations, there, it's

         12  civil offenses.

         13                 In certain cases, such as illegal re-

         14  entries, they might be criminal violations.  I don't

         15  think it would undo the language or the authority to

         16  have something like our Executive Order 41, but

         17  because of language like that, language in Section

         18  215, there's also language in Section 210 in the

         19  same title, that mandates that DHS provide

         20  transportation for anyone who is detained by state

         21  and local law enforcement into federal custody.

         22                 There's also language in Section 213

         23  that requires DHS to reimburse states for trainings

         24  and equipment paid for under any types of

         25  memorandums of agreement that states and localities
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          2  enter into with the federal government.  So, these

          3  create some financial incentives and we're concerned

          4  about the codification of something that says that

          5  states and localities have the inherent authority to

          6  enforce certain types of criminal, certain types of

          7  immigration violations, even if it's expressly

          8  limited to criminal.

          9                 I want to be really clear that it's

         10  not saying that states and localities have the

         11  inherent authority to enforce any kind of

         12  immigration violations, but we're worried about, you

         13  know, what this will allow other states and

         14  localities to do. So, it won't undo Executive Order

         15  41, but, again, the more and more we had, if we were

         16  to have more and more states and localities with

         17  policies like Executive Order 41, it would be harder

         18  to undo and, unfortunately, the language in the

         19  STRIVE Act would sort of do the opposite and create

         20  incentives.

         21                 MS. WERTZ:  I also think it's

         22  important to point out just to, to build on that,

         23  that no matter no what, the technical language of a

         24  piece of legislation like the STRIVE Act, the

         25  concept that local law enforcement authorities are
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          2  enforcing any aspect of immigration law,

          3  reverberates through communities and creates a sense

          4  of fear.

          5                 When you have phrases like local law

          6  enforcement enforcing immigration law, whether or

          7  not it's sort of in a limited aspect or in one

          8  technical provision, people in communities know this

          9  information and they know it really quickly.  They

         10  may not necessarily know or be in a position to hold

         11  individuals accountable for those technical details.

         12  Phrases like that are really the problem that,

         13  really the problem that Executive Order 41 was

         14  attempting to address, which is to say that I think

         15  it causes a rift between community members and

         16  members of the NYPD and other local enforcement

         17  authorities.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  But, I'm trying

         19  to play devil's advocate here.  Back in  '86,

         20  because there is no form of really enforcement, we

         21  find ourselves in terms of having the folks who were

         22  given an opportunity to become documented and

         23  eventually become citizens, because there is no real

         24  form of enforcement, we find ourselves in the same

         25  situation.  So, I'm saying, basically, what is there
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          2  to make sure that those folks who are here, all the

          3  12 to 20 million people who are here, go forward and

          4  become documented at this time if this bill is to

          5  pass, other than the local authority to assist in

          6  that?

          7                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  Just to make sure I

          8  understand the question, are you asking how to we

          9  create real incentives for people to want to come

         10  forward and sign up for a legalization program  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.

         12                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  --  In this climate

         13  of fear?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.  If this

         15  bill was to pass, I'm saying, we have 12 to 20

         16  million people who are here that will be considered

         17  practically eligible for documentation. Back in

         18  1986, we had a similar situation and we find that we

         19  have to get into new laws, the LULAC the this, the

         20  that, eventually. Even up to today, some of these

         21  same folks who were supposed to become documented

         22  and had the opportunity did not.  I'm saying, what

         23  is the incentive if we don't have local authorities,

         24  state and local authorities, to at least put some

         25  sort of fear into them to go and get documented, go
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          2  and do the right thing to become part of the

          3  mainstream?

          4                 MS. WERTZ:  I think, Council Member,

          5  that the issue isn't one of creating incentive.  I

          6  think the issue is one of reducing disincentive.  I

          7  think that, it's fairly clear to me as someone who

          8  works in Jackson Heights and in immigrant

          9  communities, that there is no one who wants to

         10  remain undocumented.  It's an extremely difficult

         11  position to be in. It's a very tenuous position to

         12  be in.  It's a very unsafe position to be in.

         13                 I think that if given a true free

         14  choice, everyone who is undocumented would choose to

         15  become documented and have the right to work legally

         16  in this country.  I think the issue is, instead,

         17  removing the barriers to that process for people,

         18  which is to say, primarily, the cost and potentially

         19  some of the risk factors that are included in the

         20  processes that are created by the legislation, like

         21  the touch back provision or other issues. So, I

         22  don't think it's a matter of creating incentive, I

         23  think it's a matter of passing legislation that

         24  removes the disincentives for people to participate

         25  in a program.
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          2                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  Can I also just, I

          3  would go back to, excuse me, the point about

          4  creating a legalization program that's broad and

          5  simple and that also includes the waivers that I

          6  mentioned.  Because, last year, the Senate passed a

          7  bill off the Senate floor, Senate, Bill 2611, that

          8  had tiers to the legalization program.

          9                 So that, a program like that creates

         10  a lot of confusion and I think invites the need for

         11  future piecemeal legislative fixes like LULAC or

         12  like 245I, for example.  But, I think that to the

         13  extent that we can really make sure that it's as

         14  broad, straightforward and simple a legalization

         15  program as possible and that it includes

         16  opportunities for people to seek judicial review of

         17  decisions about their eligibility.  Because, right

         18  now, people are limited in their ability to access

         19  courts.

         20                 There's a lot of questions about what

         21  happens to certain people if they have a particular

         22  conviction on their record, will they be eligible

         23  for legalization.  If someone was put into

         24  deportation proceedings because of a post- 9/11

         25  program called Special Registration, that the
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          2  government has suspended and recognizes has not been

          3  effective.  So, we need waivers for people to be

          4  able to still challenge the decisions.  We also need

          5  a very broad, simple, straightforward, inclusive

          6  legalization program.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I totally agree

          8  with you. But, I'm still worried about the fact that

          9  those folks who are here, you know, how do you get

         10  them to do it?  Because, I know when this bill is

         11  passed, they will be given an opportunity to change

         12  their status within a specific time.  It's not going

         13  to be, I don't think it's something that's going to

         14  be open, with an open end that's going to continue

         15  for years and years.  I think it's going to be an

         16  open time that they're going to give this

         17  opportunity for undocumented to become documented.

         18                 I'm trying to find out how can we

         19  maximize or make sure that the system works for

         20  everyone or force each and everyone to get into the

         21  system, so that we don't have this big continuous

         22  backlog that we had in  '86 or after that, the

         23  amnesty and then we have folks, we have to have new

         24  bills and new laws to try to accommodate them?

         25  That's what I'm thinking about right now, because 12
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          2  to 20 million people is a lot of people.

          3                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  Yeah, I think a lot

          4  of people in this room are going to be very busy if

          5  something passes, so people are really preparing for

          6  that and trying to make sure that there's an

          7  infrastructure in the funding to really reach

          8  communities.

          9                 Our problem now is that people hear

         10  about bills that have been introduced, but haven't

         11  been passed and haven't been enacted and they think

         12  that there is some form of relief for them and

         13  they're being defrauded.  So, I think that, you

         14  know, that the work, it's a partnership between

         15  government and community advocates who, and the

         16  attorneys who can provide that assistance for people

         17  to, it isn't an indefinite period to sign up for the

         18  program, should we get a bill passed this year.  So,

         19  I think it's a collaborative effort.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  In the area of

         21  employer/employee relationship in this bill, it

         22  calls for strict penalties.  What is your thinking

         23  about that, strict penalties to employers who employ

         24  thereafter someone who is undocumented? What is your

         25  thinking on that?
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          2                 MS. WERTZ:  I, I mean, I think we've

          3  had employer --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You think we

          5  should, that fees should be part of the bill?  They

          6  call for fees, you know, call for strict, high fees

          7  in terms of employers employing anyone without

          8  proper documentation.

          9                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  We don't support the

         10  use of employer sanctions.  It has not, while

         11  they're called employer sanctions, the way that they

         12  have often been implemented, have been to penalize

         13  workers.  So, when there have been these raids that

         14  I've referred to, in very few cases are we hearing

         15  of employers being prosecuted or being, suffering

         16  any real recourse, but it's the lives of the workers

         17  who are swiftly removed from the country and are not

         18  able to challenge violations of their rights or

         19  their ability to stay in this country.  That's

         20  what's happening.

         21                 So, while they're called employer

         22  sanctions, they've increased workers' vulnerability

         23  to exploitation and feeling bound to the worker and,

         24  in the end, it's been, it's had a more devastating

         25  impact on workers themselves, as opposed to
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          2  employers.

          3                 So, we don't think that it helps

          4  create  --  I think there are a lot of employers who

          5  want to be able to hire -  they, like the

          6  undocumented population, want to be able to be law

          7  abiding in many cases.  So, I don't think that

          8  employer sanctions have really benefitted employers

          9  who want to be able to hire people without violating

         10  the law and workers who also want to be able to work

         11  and live here without violating the law.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  On another

         13  issue, we have read where it's like 300,000 new

         14  undocumented immigrants per year in this country.

         15  How much do you think is in New York City per year?

         16                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  How many new, how

         17  many new  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  In the first

         19  place, how many do you think undocumented immigrants

         20  in New York City or New York State?

         21                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  I believe that the

         22  estimates, nationally, are that somewhere between

         23  300,000 to 500,000 people are being added to the

         24  population of undocumented immigrants in this

         25  country.  That's in part from people who are
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          2  entering without papers and in part from people who

          3  are here lawfully on a visa that expires and they

          4  overstay and, therefore, they're also undocumented.

          5                 Here, in New York City and New York

          6  State, I believe the estimates are that there are

          7  approximately half a million people without status

          8  in New York City, but I'd have to confirm that

          9  number.  I don't know that there are any, I don't

         10  know of any, I'd have to verify that.

         11                 MS. WERTZ:  There's also a recent

         12  study that was put out that established that in New

         13  York City and in New York State, in general, we

         14  actually have a lower percentage of the non- citizen

         15  community as an undocumented community than in the

         16  rest of the country.  Here, in New York City, we

         17  have a higher percentage of legal permanent

         18  residents and a lower percentage of undocumented

         19  individuals in our non- citizen population than in

         20  much of the rest of the country.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  On the question

         22  of the DREAM Act, do you know if there is any

         23  separate provision within that bill, the STRIVE Act,

         24  to deal with students, you know, other than the

         25  general understanding of the STRIVE Act, if there's
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          2  any special understanding, so forth, to deal with

          3  students?

          4                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  Yes.  The DREAM Act

          5  is incorporated in the STRIVE Act, in the broad

          6  legalization program in the STRIVE Act.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  At

          8  this time, I call on Council Member Palma, who has a

          9  few questions.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  I'll be brief.

         11    Thank you Mr. Chairman.  I just, I guess I'm a

         12  little curious to know how much time of the campaign

         13  from your organization is spent on making sure that

         14  the elected officials who are in Congress, who are

         15  signing onto the STRIVE Act, are also working to

         16  make sure that these changes, the concerns that you

         17  raised here?  I mean, basically, I don't think I

         18  want to see this thing pass if it has so many

         19  concerns from the immigration community, of the

         20  immigrant community.  So, how much time is being

         21  spent educating these folks to help make these

         22  changes or to ensure that these changes will be made

         23  before anything gets passed?

         24                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  So, I guess I should

         25  clarify that with every Congress Member, they have
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          2  different constituents and will play a different

          3  role.  So, as I said in my testimony, we're asking

          4  Members of Congress and the New York Delegation to

          5  sign on and to co- sponsor the bill, because we

          6  believe it has the key elements for a comprehensive

          7  immigration reform bill.

          8                 At this time, in its current form, we

          9  know it's going to be subject to a lot of different

         10  changes and potential amendments.  So, we don't know

         11  what the final package will look like.  However, in

         12  the process of moving the bill forward and getting

         13  support for it, we also want to say we are expending

         14  a lot of effort to try to strengthen it because we

         15  know that it will ultimately have to get bipartisan

         16  support.

         17                 So, for, in order, it's good for us

         18  to identify where we would like to see improvements.

         19    So, with all of the Members of Congress that we're

         20  asking to sign onto the bill and to co- sponsor it,

         21  we're pointing out these areas of concern and for,

         22  depending on who that Member is, we're asking them

         23  to take on some of the, and how these amendments

         24  would, these fixes would impact their constituents,

         25  we're asking them to take on one of these areas to
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          2  improve it.

          3                 In certain cases, we understand that

          4  for some Members of Congress, particularly newer

          5  Members who feel like they're newer to the issue,

          6  our initial step is really to get them to co-

          7  sponsor the bill and to understand what the key

          8  elements are for any good, strong comprehensive

          9  bill.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yeah, you may

         11  follow.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Thank you

         13  Mr. Chair. Just to follow- up on something my

         14  colleague mentioned, what has been the receptivity

         15  with regard to the current sponsors on making these

         16  changes?  I assume that you've had conversations

         17  with Congress Member Gutierrez on it maybe, yeah,

         18  well, Flake, but I'm talking being more on the

         19  Democratic side.  But, has there been receptivity on

         20  any of the recommendations you've made to make

         21  changes?  Are you seeing anything heading in that

         22  direction?

         23                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  We've made it really

         24  clear what our concerns are and, again, I think for

         25  certain of the provisions, right now, the bill has
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          2  been introduced, it's three weeks ago yesterday.

          3  So, right now, the House is looking very closely to

          4  see the response of other Members of Congress, to

          5  see if they're supporting it.  They really want that

          6  support in order to feel like they have a critical

          7  mass to really move the bill forward.  In certain

          8  cases, I think it was a real hurdle to get this bill

          9  introduced  --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Right.

         11                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  --  It's a 697- page

         12  bill.  It's very complex and very wide in its scope.

         13    So, I think certain provisions in there, the touch

         14  back provision in particular, has gotten a lot of

         15  attention and raised a lot of concerns.  There's

         16  definitely recognition, the STRIVE Act, including

         17  Congressman Gutierrez, including members of our own

         18  delegation, like Congressman Crowley and Congressman

         19  Weiner and I'm sure the other co-sponsors as well,

         20  but I'm just basing this on conversations that we've

         21  had with those members.

         22                 They understand that it doesn't

         23  necessarily make a whole lot of sense to have that

         24  provision, but that it was, again, the product of

         25  compromise and negotiations and that certain members
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          2  feel very, very strongly about having something that

          3  requires people to leave the country and make a

          4  legal reentry.

          5                 So, our role, really, is to make sure

          6  that they understand and to create as much support

          7  as possible for them to feel that it is the right

          8  thing and that will actually help move the bill

          9  forward if they try to make, introduce an amendment

         10  to fix a provision like that, for example.  But,

         11  right now, the big hurdle is really making sure that

         12  there's more co-sponsorship to move the bill forward

         13  and then to figure out which, which of the different

         14  areas of concern are the most politically viable and

         15  are going to have the most impact on our community

         16  members and at the end of the day, we'll be able to

         17  better assess, you know, what's an acceptable bill.

         18  Did you want to add to that?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I want to

         20  follow- up on something else.  If this bill was to

         21  pass, do you see the federal government putting more

         22  resources into dealing with the added problem that

         23  we would have in terms of getting folks regularized?

         24  Is there any, you know, does this bill call for any

         25  added resources to deal with this issue?
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          2                 Right now, we know that immigration,

          3  they talk about their monies come from the fees that

          4  they collect and not from the federal budget.  But,

          5  something like this, I think there should be some

          6  sort of funding to deal with the issues that are

          7  going to be created, to have one, the increased work

          8  load, to deal with the increased work load, so that

          9  we don't have the backlog and all that problem that

         10  develops afterwards and to even straighten out

         11  things.  Because, no matter how you look at it, you

         12  need to have personnel to deal with all these issues

         13  and these folks.

         14                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  There is language in

         15  the STRIVE Act that would provide for additional

         16  resources to make sure that there's greater

         17  opportunities for things like English language

         18  classes, civics classes and other resources that

         19  should be made available to people who would, would

         20  need those in order to be eligible for adjusting

         21  their status.  So, there is language in the STRIVE

         22  Act that recognizes that there needs to be money put

         23  towards integrating in  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right, but I'm

         25   --
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          2                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  --  The communities.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  --  Talking

          4  about, I'm talking about the actual work, because,

          5  as I said before, the immigration, they claim, most

          6  of the time, that they don't get money from the

          7  federal government.  The monies that they use to get

          8  is what in fees they collect from the public.  So,

          9  that, based on how much work they do, determines the

         10  budget that they have.  So, I'm asking, is there

         11  anything in the budget that deals specifically to

         12  get more employees, more folks to work on these

         13  issues right away, so that we don't have backlog?

         14                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  I don't know the

         15  numbers or the specifics about increased staffing

         16  for immigration and for USCIS to handle the

         17  increased caseload.  So, I don't know the details

         18  about that, but I do believe that there's language

         19  in there.  So, on both sides, both for immigrant

         20  communities who would benefit from the legalization

         21  program and on the part of the government. I just

         22  don't know the details of that.

         23                 MS. WERTZ:  And I do want to just

         24  point out that there is specific language in the

         25  legislation that says that the fee schedule that
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          2  would be established for this legalization procedure

          3  is explicitly left unspecified in the legislation.

          4  And, it leaves it to the Secretary of the Department

          5  of Homeland Security to determine what those fees

          6  would be.

          7                 Presumably, those fees would, again,

          8  as you pointed out, be set up in such a way to fund

          9  that program, which is, I think, an untenable

         10  position of putting immigrants in the position of

         11  paying for government services when they've, for

         12  years, not been able to access those services.  I

         13  think that that's unfortunate and I think that the

         14  possible height of that fee is one of the largest

         15  disincentives for participating in this program, as

         16  we were talking about before.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  As advocates,

         18  immigration in correlation with all the other folks,

         19  I want to know, are we getting ready for the influx

         20  of folks that are going to be rushing to our offices

         21  to deal with this?  Because I know some of them may

         22  go to lawyers, but instead of being ripped off by

         23  all these lawyers, and they've been doing that for

         24  years, we're talking about the folks who genuinely

         25  want to help them, you know these folks are going to
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          2  come into you.

          3                 I'm saying, are you prepared to deal

          4  with it if this bill was to pass in June?  Are you

          5  prepared, think you're prepared to deal with the

          6  influx of folks that will be coming into your

          7  office?

          8                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  I would say, in our

          9  ongoing advocacy on various aspects of immigrant

         10  integration, one of our major areas of advocacy is

         11  making sure that there's funding for these types of

         12  legal services, civics classes and English language

         13  classes.  So, the Immigrant Opportunities initiative

         14  that we are continuing to advocate for on the City

         15  and state level are, we're very much aware of the

         16  pending possibility of a legalization program, and

         17  so that's reflected in our advocacy.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  At this time, I

         19  will ask Council Member Mealy, who may have a few

         20  questions.

         21                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  I also, I'm sorry, I

         22  also want to add, I don't know about any of the

         23  later testimony that we're going to hear, but there

         24  are a lot of networks that I'm aware of that have

         25  been really preparing to help agencies deal with any
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          2  future legalization program.  I think we're going to

          3  hearing testimony later from Catholic Charities and

          4  so they might be able to speak about that in more

          5  detail.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Yes, this is a

          7  really important issue because right now we know

          8  that a lot of immigrants are now paying into taxes,

          9  do you know that?  A big amount of people are doing

         10  that, just in case, at this, if the bill is passed.

         11                 With this bill, even though you

         12  presenting this Congress, is there any way that they

         13  can separate this bill and just maybe expense  --  I

         14  don't know how Congress works as of yet.  But,

         15  instead of us waiting for this bill, is there any

         16  way we can lobby Congress for capital or expense

         17  funds just for border control? Because a lot of

         18  people are getting killed trying to come over here.

         19  Before another, I guess we would have DHS, you have

         20  put a proposal in for that in this bill, just as

         21  well, right, for border patrol?

         22                 MS. WERTZ:  There are a number of

         23  procedures for border patrol and interior

         24  enforcement procedures that are included within the

         25  STRIVE Act? Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Like to have a

          3  statistic database to know how many people are dying

          4  trying to come over here, because that should be one

          5  of our main factors just as well, to not lose

          6  another life.

          7                 So, is there any way we can split it

          8  up to get that in place right away, that another

          9  human being will not die trying to come over here?

         10  And, then, once they get here, they may not get

         11  citizenship and that's a sad factor for us.  But,

         12  there has to be a way that we can put these things

         13  in place right away, that another life cannot be

         14  lost trying to get here.

         15                 So, I ask, maybe if this is going to

         16  take too long, why not just lobby for putting

         17  something in place right away that can help further

         18  us down the line just as well?  Do you think that

         19  would be even feasible or possible that we do not

         20  lose another life?

         21                 We've talked about lives here and

         22  families, because there are now, it was just on the

         23  newspaper where now it's bandits that will rob

         24  people because they know once they come over the

         25  border, they have money and they will rob and one
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          2  was just murdered.  So, is there any way we can

          3  venture under that avenue?

          4                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  Ideally, we're

          5  trying to address all the various complex components

          6  of what is needed for immigration reform.  I think

          7  that the border has also been used symbolically with

          8  last year's passage of the Secure Fence Act. There's

          9  a tendency to obsess about the border as an issue.

         10  I think that there are, our main focus is to see if

         11  we can get a rational, reasonable and comprehensive

         12  approach in one bill, this year.

         13                 That being said, there are provisions

         14  in the STRIVE Act, the first title, that would

         15  create a U.S./Mexico Border Enforcement Review

         16  Commission to investigate some of the deaths.  I

         17  believe the estimates in the last decade are that

         18  there have been approximately 3,000 deaths at the

         19  border and  -- I believe that's, yes, I believe it's

         20  3,000 in the last decade and so  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Are you

         22  documenting that?

         23                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  We don't, this is

         24  largely at the southwest border, so there, the

         25  southwestern border, between U.S. and Mexico.  It's
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          2  not a major focus of our work.  There are a lot of

          3  other groups that are, have greater proximity to

          4  those issues and are focusing on that.  But, the

          5  STRIVE Act does set up a commission that would

          6  investigate border practices and policies. Although

          7  I will point at, at the same time, it also includes

          8  an increase in border personnel of about 2,500

          9  people.  So, there is an attempt to enforce some

         10  kind of accountability oversight for what happens at

         11  the border and the practices of the border patrol

         12  agents.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right, the

         14  last question I want to ask is, the cap on visas.

         15  Do you think, after this bill is passed, that we do

         16  need an increase in the cap of visas, the different

         17  types of visas?

         18                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  So, in my testimony

         19   --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Because, right

         21  now, that hasn't been changed in years  --

         22                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  Yeah.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  --  And it

         24  created, that in itself creates a problem.  So, you

         25  think that should be changed?
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          2                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  It will be changed

          3  in the STRIVE Act.  In my testimony, I sort of left

          4  to where we have areas of concern because I know

          5  other testimony is going to focus on very strong

          6  positive aspects of the STRIVE Act.  But, actually,

          7  it does a great deal to address that issue and it

          8  would eliminate immediate family members.  It would

          9  exclude them from being counted in the annual cap of

         10  480,000 available family- based visas.  So, it

         11  would, it would do a lot to really reduce the

         12  backlog and reduce the wait for family members who

         13  are languishing in the petition process.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I want to thank

         15  you for your testimony.  We will follow- up.  I'm

         16  thinking seriously about an increase in the IOI

         17  money, so that we can do a lot more English language

         18  training and all of those things.  So, thank you,

         19  you'll hear from me.

         20                 MS. MOUSSAVIAN:  Thank you.

         21                 MS. WERTZ:  Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Our next panelists

         23  are Cheryl David from the American Immigration

         24  Lawyers Association and Jojo Annobil from Legal Aid

         25  Society.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Folks, if you

          3  can identify yourself and we can get into the meat

          4  of the subject, so that we can move along.

          5                 MR. ANNOBIL:  Good morning.  My name

          6  is Jojo Annobil and I'm from the Legal Aid Society.

          7  Chair Kendall Stewart and Council Members, on behalf

          8  of the Society, I would like to thank you and the

          9  Committee Members for giving us this opportunity to

         10  testify before the Immigration Committee of the City

         11  Council with regard to New York City's interest in

         12  the comprehensive federal immigration debate.

         13                 The Legal Aid Society, as you know,

         14  was founded in 1876 to serve New York's immigrant

         15  community and is the nation's oldest and largest

         16  not- for- profit legal service providers.  We are

         17  organized into three practice areas, civil, criminal

         18  and juvenile.  Each year, the Society staff provides

         19  free legal services to nearly 275,000 indigent

         20  families and individuals in New York City.

         21                 For decades, The Legal Aid Society

         22  has maintained a widely respective City- wide

         23  immigration law unit.  The unit is the only not-

         24  for- profit legal service provider in New York that

         25  specializes in representing non- citizens with
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          2  criminal convictions in removal proceedings in

          3  immigration courts.

          4                 It is the only source of free lawyers

          5  for such aliens who are detained by immigration

          6  officials.  Our experienced staff represents

          7  immigrants before the USCIS in federal court and on

          8  appeals.  We also conduct trainings for state and

          9  local agencies and judicial and legislative staff.

         10                 New York City needs to play an

         11  essential role in the current debate about

         12  comprehensive immigration reform, even though such

         13  reform is technically in the exclusive domain of

         14  Congress.  New York City thrives on the diversity,

         15  vitality and labor participation of our City's

         16  immigrants.  Though many of these immigrants are

         17  undocumented and must, therefore, remain in the

         18  shadows, they pay taxes, own small businesses,

         19  parent U.S. Citizen children and add to the

         20  creativity and social and economic fabric of this

         21  vibrant City.

         22                 In 2000, 2.9 million foreign- born

         23  persons resided in New York City.  It is currently

         24  estimated that 1.5 million lawful permanent

         25  residents or green card holders and 625,000
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          2  undocumented immigrants live in New York City.  The

          3  625,000 is an estimate.  It goes anywhere from half

          4  a million to that and it could be more.

          5                 New York City's role in the

          6  comprehensive immigration reform debate must be two-

          7  fold.  First, we must advocate for a large scale

          8  overhaul of current immigration laws and policies by

          9  demanding a solution to the visa backlog,

         10  legalization for the undocumented and repeal of the

         11  1996 changes to the Immigration Act.  Secondly, New

         12  York City must play a key role in planning for an

         13  efficient and effective implementation of

         14  legalization in the City, should Congress pass such

         15  a law.

         16                 It is so necessary for New York City

         17  to advocate for an overhaul of the current

         18  immigration laws and policies, because of the

         19  devastating impact they have on our City's families.

         20    In 2001, the Department of Homeland Security

         21  increased its enforcement of draconian immigration

         22  laws, leading to the detention and deportation of

         23  long- time lawful permanent residents and

         24  undocumented immigrants.  These removals are

         25  dividing nuclear families.
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          2                 Bread winners who have resided in

          3  this country since their infancy are deported,

          4  leaving spouses behind to juggle single parenting.

          5  Children are left unsupervised and without father

          6  figures, often turning to truancy, which can

          7  ultimately lead to crime.  Families that ordinarily

          8  would not access public benefits are being forced to

          9  apply for state and City aid, adding to the already

         10  overwhelming financial burdens on the City.

         11                 The growing frequency of raids by the

         12  Immigration and Customs Enforcement, the enforcement

         13  arm of the Department of Homeland Security, has also

         14  resulted in undocumented immigrants being deported

         15  and leaving behind their U.S. Citizen children.

         16                 The Legal Aid Society's experience

         17  and knowledge, which comes from our practice,

         18  demonstrates the necessity for comprehensive

         19  immigration reform.  The shear numbers, 12 million

         20  undocumented present in our country, sometimes

         21  625,000 in our City alone, serve as a blaring

         22  indicator that our immigration laws and systems are

         23  in profound need of reform.

         24                 Due to their illegal status, many

         25  undocumented non- citizens suffer abuse and are
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          2  exploited daily.  They cannot obtain drivers

          3  licenses; work legally; travel freely, even within

          4  the United States; obtain health care or call the

          5  police when they are in danger, for fear that they

          6  and their undocumented loved ones will be hauled

          7  away to detention facilities.

          8                 Despite the tripling of the number of

          9  border patrol agents since 1986 and a tremendous

         10  increase in the enforcement budget since 2001, we

         11  have not made a dent in the number of undocumented

         12  non- citizens who come into this country looking for

         13  freedom and economic survival.  The challenge for

         14  our nation and our diversity is beginning the

         15  process of addressing this problem.

         16                 Realistic strategies for fixing our

         17  immigration laws cannot involve mass deportations or

         18  an exclusive enforcement regime.  Comprehensive

         19  immigration reform is the only answer and it must be

         20  done immediately.  Many undocumented persons have

         21  avenues for legalizing their status, but are forced

         22  to remain undocumented due to unreasonable

         23  processing delays, backlogs, overly complex

         24  procedures and the relative unavailability of

         25  immigrant visas.
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          2                 Under current law, the annual limit

          3  on worldwide immigration stands at 675,000.  This

          4  number has not increased in decades.  Of the 675,000

          5  immigrant visas allotted annually, a mere 480,000

          6  are issued to family- sponsored immigrants.  The

          7  demand has severely outpaced the supply.

          8                 A legal permanent resident must now

          9  wait anywhere from five to ten years for immigrant

         10  visas for their spouses and children to become

         11  available.  U.S. Citizens must wait close to six

         12  years for visas for their adult children and over

         13  ten years for their brothers and sisters to join

         14  them in the U.S.  U.S. Citizens sponsoring family

         15  members from Mexico or the Philippines must wait 13

         16  to 15 years for spouses and children to join them.

         17  Citizens sponsoring siblings from the Philippines

         18  must wait 23 years to be reunited.

         19                 Eliminating this backlog must be a

         20  basic component of comprehensive immigration reform.

         21    All pending applications for immigrant visas

         22  should be processed within a year and all eligible

         23  applicants should immediately be allowed to enter

         24  the country and the numerical cap on all visas must

         25  be increased to realistically accommodate
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          2  applicants.  Spouses and children of legal permanent

          3  residents should not be subjected to waiting times

          4  on numerical caps.  Numerical caps on employment-

          5  based immigrant visas should realistically reflect

          6  the country's labor needs.

          7                 Comprehensive immigration reform

          8  should not leave anyone behind or create a new tier

          9  of undocumented immigrants. All immigrants residing

         10  within the United States should be granted legal

         11  status, be it temporary or permanent and then be on

         12  a path toward legal permanent residence.

         13  Undocumented persons should not be required to leave

         14  the U.S. to get on this path. Such a policy would

         15  also burden an already overworked system.

         16                 Requiring immigrants to leave the

         17  U.S. and reenter the country limits immigrants who

         18  are already resource-strapped. Immigrants may also

         19  fear being denied reentry, as well as potential

         20  processing delays resulting from added

         21  administrative burden.  Allowing undocumented

         22  immigrants access to the path to legalization

         23  without unnecessary hurdles, can serve the dual

         24  purpose of allowing the undocumented to emerge from

         25  the shadows, while reducing national security
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          2  concerns, as the government would finally be able to

          3  account for all those who reside in this country.

          4                 New York City must also urge our

          5  nation's lawmakers to fix the inherent flaws of the

          6  1996 Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant

          7  Responsibility Act and the Anti terrorism and

          8  Effective Death Penalty Act.  While the whole nation

          9  is fixated on what to do with the undocumented

         10  immigrant population, few are considering the fate

         11  of those who already have lawful permanent resident

         12  status.

         13                 The draconian laws passed by Congress

         14  in 1996 increased the number of crimes, some minor,

         15  which bar a lawful permanent resident from seeking

         16  relief from removal and took away judicial

         17  discretion to consider rehabilitation or family

         18  ties. That same law made the immigrants who have

         19  committed certain crimes subject to mandatory

         20  detention without bond throughout the immigration

         21  proceedings, even if they are eligible for certain

         22  waivers.

         23                 The impact of these punitive laws has

         24  been devastating.  Immigrants are being deported for

         25  minor, insignificant criminal convictions, even if
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          2  they have U.S. children, are long-term residents of

          3  the U.S. or have pressing health concerns or would

          4  be subject to conflict in their home country.  The

          5  statistics are mind- boggling.

          6                 In 2006, 88,217 non-citizens with

          7  criminal convictions were removed from the U.S.,

          8  representing a four percent increase in such

          9  removals from the previous year.  The 1996 laws are

         10  tearing families apart and should be reformed to

         11  include a statute of limitations when considering

         12  past criminal convictions, the opportunity for

         13  judicial review and the consideration of an

         14  individual's hardship or other equities.

         15                 Section 245(i) of the Immigration and

         16  Nationality Act should be restored and the three and

         17  ten year bars for unlawful presence repealed.  These

         18  reforms will keep New York City's families intact,

         19  reduce the rate of costly deportations and afford

         20  immigrants due process and promote American values

         21  of fairness and opportunity.

         22                 New York City must also plan for the

         23  efficient and effective implementation of

         24  legalization.  Passage of comprehensive immigration

         25  reform that includes legalization would bring relief
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          2  and a unique opportunity to the millions of

          3  undocumented immigrants, by allowing them to

          4  regularize their status in the U.S.  However, its

          5  success or failure will depend largely on community-

          6  based organizations and not- for- profit legal

          7  services organizations.  Such organizations already

          8  cope with heavy caseloads and limited resources.

          9  New York City must step in and provide funding to

         10  assure the continued provision of quality services

         11  to our City's immigration population.

         12                 The Legal Aid Society's extensive

         13  experience with the 1986 legalization program, the

         14  World Trade Center Disaster Relief initiative and

         15  recent special registration for men from Muslim

         16  countries makes us uniquely qualified to partner

         17  with other service providers and community- based

         18  organizations to start building collaborations and

         19  effectively and efficiently provide services should

         20  legalization become a reality.  New York City, in

         21  response, should be ready to fund legal service

         22  providers and community- based organizations to

         23  provide outreach, application assistance and

         24  representation.

         25                 In conclusion, the Society supports a
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          2  multi pronged approach to comprehensive immigration

          3  reform that will encourage family reunification by

          4  eradicating the visa backlog for family- and

          5  employment- based immigration, legalizing the status

          6  of a country's undocumented population and changing

          7  the 1996 legislation so that lawful permanent

          8  residents will not be barred from applying for

          9  relief from removal or naturalizing due to minor

         10  criminal convictions  Thank you and I welcome any

         11  questions after my fellow panelist is done.

         12                 MS. DAVID:  Good morning.  I would

         13  like to thank the Immigration Committee for the

         14  opportunity to permit me to testify before you on

         15  such a crucial issue currently being debated in this

         16  country.

         17                 My name is Cheryl David.  I am

         18  currently serving as the Chair for the New York

         19  Chapter of the American Immigration Lawyers

         20  Association, commonly referred to as AILA.  The New

         21  York Chapter has 1,200 members and nationwide over

         22  10,000.  AILA is the national association of

         23  attorneys and law professors who practice and teach

         24  immigration law.  I, myself, am a private

         25  practitioner in New York, mainly concentrating in
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          2  deportation defense of immigrants in this country.

          3                 On behalf of AILA, I welcome the

          4  opportunity to discuss comprehensive immigration

          5  reform with the Committee and the current

          6  legislation pending in Congress.  There's an urgent

          7  need to fix our current immigration laws and system,

          8  which are clearly broken.  A piecemeal approach to

          9  fixing our immigration system is not feasible.

         10  Immigration laws that are out of sync with 21st

         11  century economic realities have, as pointed out,

         12  produced an underground economy characterized by

         13  smugglers, fake documents and millions of

         14  undocumented immigrants who are subject and

         15  vulnerable to exploitation.

         16                 We need a bold, comprehensive

         17  approach to immigration reform and AILA has four

         18  main principles that I would like to share with the

         19  Committee.

         20                 In order to succeed in overcoming the

         21  problems in our current system and restoring the

         22  rule of law, any legislative package must contain a

         23  new flexible worker program.  We currently have no

         24  feasible visa category authorizing essential workers

         25  in low or semi- skilled occupations to work in the
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          2  United States. There is a huge gap in our current

          3  immigration system.

          4                 This has a huge impact on many New

          5  Yorker immigrants currently working in New York in

          6  such businesses as restaurants, construction, health

          7  care and child care, as well as affecting many

          8  business owners in the City.  In addition,

          9  comprehensive immigration reform must expand legal

         10  channels for temporary workers in high skilled

         11  professions, such as the H1B category.

         12                 We must address the 12 million

         13  undocumented currently living here in the United

         14  States.  We need people to come out of the shadows,

         15  register with the government and demonstrate that

         16  they can earn permanent residence in this country.

         17  Many New York residents are illegally here, do not

         18  have the ability to work and cannot support their

         19  families, many of which are U.S. citizens.

         20                 Third, we must reform the family-

         21  based and employment- based permanent residency

         22  preference system. Currently, U.S. citizens and

         23  permanent residents, in certain cases, are required

         24  to wait seven to ten years before being reunited

         25  with family members.  Clearly, in a City such as New
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          2  York, with such a large population of immigrants, it

          3  affects our residents tremendously.  Given the cost

          4  of living in the City, one can only imagine the

          5  difficulty a single parent must endure struggling

          6  alone.

          7                 Similarly, in the employment- based

          8  category, the wait may be five to six years before

          9  an individual can be authorized to work and apply

         10  for residency.  Again, thereby affecting many

         11  businesses in New York and preventing any immigrants

         12  eager and capable of working from doing so lawfully.

         13                 Lastly, we need to restore the law,

         14  the rule of law and enhance security.  By

         15  encouraging those here to come out of the shadows

         16  and creating legal channels to provide for the

         17  future flow of workers, we can restore the rule of

         18  law in our workplace and communities and then focus

         19  our enforcement resources on those who actually do

         20  mean to harm us.

         21                 As already mentioned, the STRIVE Act

         22  has been introduced into Congress, into the House.

         23  AILA welcomes the STRIVE Act, a bipartisan,

         24  comprehensive immigration reform.  The introduction

         25  of this bill is an important measure to get the
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          2  debate started and the legislative process on this

          3  issue to begin.

          4                 There are numerous good provisions in

          5  the bill which address the components I just

          6  mentioned.  The bill offers a new H- 2C visa

          7  category, which is targeted to workers outside the

          8  United States or with workers legally present in the

          9  United States.  It addresses the missing category of

         10  low- or semi skilled workers.  After meeting certain

         11  conditions, the applicant would obtain a conditional

         12  residence with a path to permanent residency after

         13  five years in the category or being sponsored by an

         14  employer.  The STRIVE Act does address the existing

         15  backlogs in both the employment and family- based

         16  categories by increasing the amount of visas

         17  allocated each year.

         18                 The bill similarly addresses the 12

         19  million undocumented currently here in the United

         20  States.  It does create a path to permanent

         21  residence and then eventual citizenship.  To be

         22  eligible, individuals would have to demonstrate that

         23  they were in the United State before June 2006, had

         24  an offer of employment, complete a background check

         25  and pay a fine of $500.00.  After six years, they
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          2  could apply for permanent residency.  There is a

          3  touch back provision, which must be met while the

          4  individual is a conditional resident, however, they

          5  do not need to go back to an embassy, just leave the

          6  United States and then return.

          7                 In addition the DREAM Act is

          8  incorporated into the STRIVE Act, which legalizes

          9  many long- term residents who entered the United

         10  States as children, a bill that many consider to be

         11  a no- brainer.  These children are present in the

         12  United States due to no fault of their own, many

         13  have achieved academic success and cannot move on

         14  from college, as they are undocumented.

         15                 Although it's not in my written

         16  testimony, I would point out that the STRIVE Act

         17  also has other provisions for students in the F- 1

         18  category.  Students in the F- 1 category in the

         19  STRIVE Act could be eligible to work if they

         20  demonstrated a need.  They, students who had earned

         21  a masters degree would not be covered in the green

         22  card cap.  It would create a new F- 4 category for

         23  Canadians and Mexicans who maintain residence in

         24  Canada or Mexico and it would be an F- 5 category

         25  for distant learners coming to the United States to
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          2  continue their education for 30 days or less.

          3                 In addition to the DREAM Act, there

          4  would be a cancellation of removal provision if the

          5  individual had been in removal proceedings, the

          6  DREAM Act could cancel their removal if they could

          7  demonstrate that they meet certain criteria.

          8                 In closing, I think we all would

          9  agree that no bill will be perfect and many

         10  immigration advocates will differ on the numerous

         11  provisions within it.  However, this bill does bring

         12  everyone to the table and instead of engaging in

         13  constant rhetoric, places something in front of our

         14  congressional leaders to discuss and work with.

         15                 As an immigration practitioner, it is

         16  heartbreaking to explain to families, U.S. citizens

         17  and employers that I cannot assist them with their

         18  immigration issues, as there are no legal channels

         19  available.  New Yorkers would benefit greatly by a

         20  comprehensive approach such as the STRIVE Act.  This

         21  bill is a huge step forward.  It is a tough

         22  enforcement bill, but a practical reform of our

         23  legal immigration system.  I appreciate being asked

         24  to speak here this morning and thank you for the

         25  opportunity.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You spoke about

          3  the repeal of some of these draconian laws.  What

          4  specifically you see should be repealed?  I mean, if

          5  we have this bill, I think most of those laws will

          6  be somehow repealed, but which ones, specifically,

          7  do you see will still be in place if this bill is

          8  passed?

          9                 MR. ANNOBIL:  Well, this bill and all

         10  the other bills that we've seen have never addressed

         11  the 1996 draconian laws.  The irony of the situation

         12  is this.  If any of these bills pass and these laws

         13  still remain on the books, you just, I just

         14  mentioned about the 1.5 million lawful permanent

         15  residents living in New York, you'll be adding,

         16  let's say, another 625, who would all now be subject

         17  to mandatory deportation, if, for example, they jump

         18  a turnstile and for some unexplained reason get

         19  convicted of theft of services and get jail terms of

         20  one year. That's an aggravated felony offense and

         21  that would make them mandatorily deported.

         22                 Even if it doesn't, it constitutes, a

         23  theft of services would constitute what they call a

         24  crime involving moral character.  Anyone who has

         25  been in this country has been admitted for less than
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          2  five years who commits such crime has no release

          3  available to him or her.  That is the laws we are

          4  talking about. That is the 1996 laws.  No one is

          5  talking about them.  When if they were passed, they

          6  talked about, we didn't know what we were doing, now

          7  we realize what we did and we want them repealed,

          8  yet nobody's talking about it and it's really

          9  dangerous.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So, in other

         11  words, you're saying there should also be another

         12  bill to repeal these laws, the 1996 laws?

         13                 MR. ANNOBIL:  No, I'm not saying

         14  that.  All I'm saying it should be considered as, it

         15  should be a comprehensive overhaul of immigration

         16  law.  We can't have it piecemeal, because if you

         17  have a piecemeal legislation, we're going to have

         18  the same fight come two years, in two years time.

         19  It's going to take us another five years to come to

         20  the table for all of us to be on the same page.

         21  This is the moment when we should be able to say,

         22  enough is enough.  How do we make this work?  That's

         23  all we're asking for.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So, according

         25  to your testimony, you're saying all immigrants
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          2  residing within the United States should be granted

          3  legal status.  You meant that immigrants that are

          4  not convicted of let's say a felony, you mean to

          5  include those also?

          6                 MR. ANNOBIL:  Well, there are laws on

          7  the books which will prevent a lot of these

          8  undocumented immigrants from becoming either

          9  temporary or permanent citizens.  There are

         10  inadmissibility grounds and if they fall within

         11  those grounds, they are inadmissible and they can't

         12  take advantage of this.

         13                 What I'm saying, what I was referring

         14  to is this. The STRIVE Act has been, I think is the

         15  most, has been the most generous of saying that

         16  anyone in this country on or before June 1st of

         17  2006.  There are people who have been here since

         18  June 1st of 2006.  All I'm saying is that whatever

         19  bill we have in place should be able to cover anyone

         20  who is here and is eligible, so that we don't create

         21  another tier of undocumented illegal immigrants.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I don't know if

         23  you did answer my question clearly  --

         24                 MR. ANNOBIL:  Okay.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  --  But the
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          2  fact is I don't see why  --  I can understand when

          3  you talk about moral character and those crimes, but

          4  I don't see why anyone, at least there should be a

          5  definition as to what types of crimes or what type

          6  of wrongs one may have done that should be defined

          7  to make him ineligible to become documented.

          8                 MR. ANNOBIL:  Well, there will be  --

          9                 MS. DAVID:  It's, it would be either

         10  three misdemeanors or a felony would be ineligible

         11  for legalization  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.

         13                 MS. DAVID:  --  Under the STRIVE Act.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  That would be

         15  the STRIVE Act?

         16                 MS. DAVID:  Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So, you're

         18  saying, basically, so the STRIVE Act does take into

         19  consideration part of that 1996 bill?

         20                 MS. DAVID:  I don't think it

         21  necessarily addresses what my colleague was

         22  discussing in terms of the definition of aggravated

         23  felony.  In fact, in this bill, it expands the

         24  definition of aggravated felony.  There's a

         25  provision in there for people who had been convicted
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          2  of gang- related crimes.  I don't really know what

          3  that means, but it's in there, that would make

          4  somebody deportable from the United States.

          5                 There are good things in the STRIVE

          6  Act in terms of what the  '96 laws have done to our

          7  City in the last few, since 1996.  There are

          8  provisions there to make sure that detention is, I

          9  don't want to say reasonable, but more, is, are,

         10  there are considerations about how people are

         11  detained and where they're detained and access to

         12  attorneys.

         13                 In addition, it appears to repeal or

         14  mitigate the most draconian part, I think, of the

         15  current immigration law, which is 236C, which is,

         16  which are the mandatory detention provisions.

         17  Currently, if you are arrested and convicted of a

         18  crime after 1998, which renders you deportable from

         19  the United States, which is, essentially, anything,

         20  you know, two turnstile jumpings, you're subject to

         21  mandatory detention, regardless of whether you've

         22  never served a day in jail.

         23                 In Section 173, it appears that DHS

         24  would have the discretion to consider whether or not

         25  somebody would be released on, released on bond.
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          2  And, if the person didn't agree with the decision

          3  to, assuming that immigration said no, they wouldn't

          4  release them, you did have an opportunity to go

          5  before an immigration judge and request a bond in

          6  that, request a bond.

          7                 We don't have that right now and that

          8  is a huge step forward, if I'm reading it correctly

          9  in the STRIVE Act, that is really what is

         10  devastating so many families.  I mean, you're

         11  talking about lawful permanent residents, some with

         12  possession of stolen property.  I had one client

         13  with a 1999, he stole a car when he was a kid,

         14  probation, and he went to court.  He had always been

         15  going to court, was a sole provider for his family,

         16  four children, and they arrested him in the

         17  courtroom  He was subject to mandatory detention.

         18                 So, these are the provisions that are

         19  really, I think, you know, the most draconian of the

         20    '96 laws.  But, it seems to be addressed a little

         21  bit in the STRIVE Act.  I think not to the extent we

         22  would like, but I think in this political

         23  environment, we sort of need to be realistic about

         24  what we're going to get.  We're all New Yorkers.

         25  We're a lot more open minded than other cities and
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          2  states and we've all grown up with immigrants.

          3                 Many of us are immigrants in this

          4  room and we need a compromise, because the

          5  alternative is going to be devastating for many

          6  people who are working here.  It's going to be

          7  devastating to business owners.  ICE will continue

          8  to raid factories.  They will continue to raid

          9  employers.  We don't have a detention center in New

         10  York.  New Yorkers are being shipped to Texas and

         11  Arizona and other remote locations where their

         12  family cannot be here, cannot see them.  They don't

         13  have access to attorneys.  It's devastating to New

         14  York City residents, our bills, and the lack of a

         15  comprehensive immigration reform, you know, in the

         16  next few months, will be devastating in the future,

         17  because I don't know when that we're going to come

         18  back to the table and discuss this the way we have

         19  been currently.

         20                 So, AILA's position is, yes, it's not

         21  a perfect bill, but it gets us to the table.  It

         22  lets us iron out some of the things and I think it's

         23  a reasonable approach, given our political climate,

         24  to, to fixing some, to fixing the huge problem.

         25  There's a huge gap in our labor market for, for many
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          2  of these people.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Do you think

          4  that after the STRIVE Act has been passed, that

          5  there will be or there's an opportunity for folks to

          6  then introduce some sort of a bill to repeal all

          7  those, that draconian law from 1996?  Do you think

          8  there's any opportunity to change that, thereafter?

          9                 I mean, a lot of these things happen

         10  in stages and I don't think that there could be any

         11  one bill that can really correct and satisfy each

         12  and every one of the folks in this country.

         13  However, I think this is a good start and I'm asking

         14  you, do you think that there will be an opportunity

         15  or seems to be an opportunity, after the STRIVE Act

         16  has been passed, that there will be a better

         17  opportunity for them to change that, the draconian

         18  laws?

         19                 MR. ANNOBIL:  I  --  excuse me  --  I

         20  agree with you that this is a good start and a good

         21  beginning.  It's also good that at least we are

         22  talking again about comprehensive immigration

         23  reform.  I believe that as we talk, we'll bring, a

         24  lot of things would come to the forefront.  Not

         25  everything can be addressed in one bill, I agree.
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          2  But, as long as we are talking about it, I think

          3  that's the good part about it.

          4                 As long as we're talking about it and

          5  people are informed about it and know what impact

          6  these laws are having, I think there's always a

          7  possibility that something could be done, maybe not

          8  in this bill.  It might be watered down a bit in

          9  this bill and addressed later, I believe so.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  We in New York

         11  City, in the City Council here, what do you think we

         12  can do in New York City here, to at least enhance,

         13  not only the passage of this bill, but also after

         14  the bill has been passed, to enhance the really

         15  making what this bill is striving to do happen?

         16                 MR. ANNOBIL:  I believe education is

         17  the key.  A lot of immigrants don't have access to

         18  information or knowledge. It's up to, what, very

         19  briefly, what I mentioned in my testimony, it's up

         20  to community- based organizations who deal with

         21  these people daily, up to not- for- profit legal

         22  providers who do this daily, to start talking, to

         23  start educating these people.

         24                 About three weeks ago, I spoke to a

         25  Chinese community, about 60, and they all were
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          2  asking about this.  I had to educate them about what

          3  they should start doing, trying to get

          4  documentation, which will prove identity, which will

          5  prove fiscal presence, which would prove good moral

          6  character.  These are things that one has to start

          7  doing.  Whether the bill passes tomorrow or in nine

          8  months, these are some of the things.

          9                 However, we are cash strapped.

         10  Everyone is cash strapped.  So, somewhere along the

         11  line, most people will have to leave on the City for

         12  some cash to be able to do this work, because we

         13  have caseloads and if this law passes, I know our

         14  clients will be breaking down our doors.  But,

         15  whether we'll be able to take care of them and also

         16  take care of our caseloads, becomes a question.

         17  We've always done this whether we've had money or

         18  not and we'll continue to do it.  That's the only

         19  promise I can give, that we will continue to do it

         20  and we'll take care of whoever comes to us.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Thank you.

         22  Thank you for your testimony.  I'm hoping that

         23  someone from the Finance Department is still here to

         24  take notes that there is going to be a great demand

         25  for more resources to deal with communication and
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          2  education of immigrants.  Thank you.

          3                 MR. ANNOBIL:  Thank you very much.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  The next panel is J.

          5  C. Salyer from The Arab- American Family Support

          6  Center, Asfaha Hadera from African Services

          7  Committee and Joe Doherty from the Irish Lobby for

          8  Immigration Reform.

          9                 For planning purposes, I just want to

         10  announce who the following panels will be.  The next

         11  panel will be representatives from UJA, AJC and

         12  HIAS, followed by representatives, the next panel

         13  after that will be representatives from Catholic

         14  Charities, United Neighborhood Houses and

         15  Congressman Jose Serrano's office, then followed by

         16  representatives of the Northwest Bronx Community and

         17  Clergy Coalition.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Just identify

         19  yourself and your staff.  We will hear the testimony

         20  from each of you and then we will ask questions at

         21  the end.

         22                 MR. DOHERTY:  Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         23    Good morning Members of the Council.  Thanks for

         24  giving me the opportunity to speak to you today.  My

         25  name is Joe Doherty.  I'm honored to speak to you as
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          2  a representative of the Irish Lobby for Immigration

          3  Reform and on behalf of the estimated 50,000

          4  undocumented Irish living and working in the United

          5  States, many of them in New York.

          6                 I also speak to you in memory of my

          7  deceased parents, my mother Mary from Glenbourne

          8  County Donegal, who landed in New York at the age of

          9  14 and my father, Joe, who made his made to New York

         10  with $36.00 in his pocket, from a place mentioned in

         11  the Brian Friel play Translations, Burnfoot, County

         12  Donegal.  My parents met in New York City and raised

         13  five children, and there is no way for most Irish to

         14  legally immigrate to the United States today.

         15  Imagine that?

         16                 Under the current immigration system,

         17  New York's first Roman Catholic Mayor, W. R. Grace,

         18  a native of County Cork Ireland, the four

         19  grandparents of City Council Speaker, Christine

         20  Quinn, natives of Counties Cork and Claire, and my

         21  parents, would be unable to immigrate to New York.

         22                 Undocumented Irish in communities

         23  like Woodlawn in the Bronx and Woodside and

         24  Sunnyside in Queens are under siege. Time is running

         25  out for them.  They cannot wait for anther election
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          2  cycle, hoping that this broken immigration system

          3  will somehow fix itself.  They're living, they're

          4  real people living real lives.

          5                 Driver's licenses are expiring and

          6  they cannot be renewed.  They're unable to travel to

          7  Ireland to be with families in times of tragedy or

          8  joy without risking the lives they have built for

          9  themselves here in New York.  Their status makes it

         10  difficult to obtain medical insurance.  They love

         11  New York, they work hard, they've been here for

         12  years.  They pose no threat to national security.

         13  They should not be forced to live in the shadows

         14  like criminals.

         15                 If nothing is done, New York will

         16  lose out on what this generation of Irish immigrants

         17  and all the other immigrants will bring to New York.

         18    But, this is not just another Irish issue.  New

         19  York was founded by immigrants and continues to rely

         20  on immigrants to provide essential services that

         21  make this the greatest, most international City in

         22  the world.  Beyond the economic role, immigrants

         23  provide native New Yorkers like myself with an

         24  intangible, but very real, reminder of American

         25  virtues of hard work, family and community.
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          2                 The timing for this City Council

          3  Oversight Hearing on Immigration and New York City's

          4  interest in federal comprehensive immigration reform

          5  could not be better.  Next week, New York City will

          6  celebrate the fourth annual immigrant history week,

          7  sponsored by the Mayor's Office of Immigrant

          8  Affairs.  I submit that this Committee and the City

          9  Council can provide a fitting tribute to New York's

         10  rich immigrant history by taking whatever action is

         11  possible to assist immigrants of today, including

         12  the undocumented.

         13                 I respectfully urge this Committee

         14  and the entire City Council to call upon their

         15  colleagues in the United States Congress to take

         16  immediate action and pass federal comprehensive

         17  immigration legislation that would provide a path to

         18  earned legal status for the undocumented immigrants

         19  in New York.  The Irish Lobby for, I'd also like to

         20  say, Mr. Chairman, that several times we've, you've

         21  referred to a period after the STRIVE Act was

         22  passed.  I think we should be cautious and not take

         23  it for granted that it will.  We need to put every

         24  effort forward to get this thing passed.

         25                 The Irish Lobby for Immigration
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          2  Reform supports the STRIVE Act, H.R. 1645, the

          3  bipartisan STRIVE Act recently introduced in the

          4  House was also, by Representatives Gutierrez and

          5  Flake, was also co- sponsored by several New York

          6  City Congressmen Jose Serrano, Nydia Velazquez,

          7  Anthony Weiner and Joe Crowley.  The Irish Lobby for

          8  Immigration Reform supports the STRIVE Act as a

          9  well- balanced effort to achieve comprehensive

         10  immigration reform.

         11                 Permit me to briefly summarize some

         12  key aspects. The STRIVE Act strikes the correct

         13  balance between enforcement and legalization.  It is

         14  often assumed that immigrant groups oppose

         15  enforcement measures.  The Irish Lobby for

         16  Immigration Reform does not.  We understand that

         17  nations have to safeguard their borders, whether

         18  people arrive by land, sea or in the air. A fair

         19  enforcement effort, however, is in everyone's

         20  interest. The STRIVE Act offers a path to

         21  citizenship.

         22                 Currently, it seems that some members

         23  in the republican party are intent on creating a

         24  permanent underclass of immigrants who can never

         25  achieve the ultimate goal of every prior generation

                                                            86

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  of immigrants to these shores, American citizenship.

          3  We should learn from the mistakes of European

          4  nations like France, where denial of citizenship to

          5  many foreign workers has exacerbated ethnic tensions

          6  and caused immigrants to find themselves

          7  increasingly isolated and alienated from the

          8  mainstream.

          9                 The STRIVE Act increases the number

         10  of work visas that are not conditioned on family

         11  relations.  The Irish people are currently unable to

         12  immigrate legally under family provisions only

         13  because there is an inherent bias in the worldwide

         14  quota system against small countries like Ireland.

         15  By allowing the additional work visas for those who

         16  skills are needed by the United State economy, the

         17  STRIVE Act creates a new opportunity for qualified

         18  immigrants to come here.

         19                 The STRIVE Act allows the

         20  undocumented to come out of the shadows in a clear

         21  and comprehensive way.  It provides a well- defined

         22  series of steps for the undocumented person to

         23  follow to achieve regularized status.  It is unlike

         24  much of, in that respect, it is unlike much of the

         25  confusing legislation that has been proposed on this
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          2  issue in the past.

          3                 The Irish Lobby for Immigration

          4  Reform believes that the so- called touch back

          5  provision can be legislated in a fair and correct

          6  manner and we do not object to the requirements that

          7  the undocumented leave the country in order to claim

          8  their legal status.  However, the Irish Lobby for

          9  Immigration Reform suggests that before immigrants

         10  are required to leave the United States in a touch

         11  back process, that there be some clear understanding

         12  by immigrants that they will be allowed to return

         13  legally.  STRIVE, unlike other proposed bills, makes

         14  this very clear.

         15                 New York needs federal comprehensive

         16  immigration reform legislation similar to the STRIVE

         17  Act.  Immigration reform is not just in the interest

         18  of immigrants from Ireland or other nations, it is

         19  in the best interest of New York.  Thank you very

         20  much for your time.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Let me say I

         22  know this is a very, to me, this is a very, very

         23  important topic and very important issue that we're

         24  dealing with.  But, in the interest of time, if you

         25  can try not to repeat some of the testimony that
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          2  others have given us.  If you can give us, add to

          3  what we have done here today, those of you here

          4  remaining to speak, because I think, as we see here,

          5  most of us are on the same side.  So, if you can do

          6  that, so that we don't repeat ourselves and a lot of

          7  these issues.  All right?  So, I don't want to limit

          8  you, but at the same time, I don't want you to

          9  repeat a lot of the issues that we have discussed

         10  before in terms of testimony.

         11                 MR. HADERA:  First of all, I would

         12  like to thank the Speaker, the Chair and Members of

         13  the Committee for giving New York City constituents

         14  the opportunity to share their views and their

         15  experience on the burning issue of comprehensive

         16  immigration reform.

         17                 With that said, my name is Asfaha

         18  Hadera and I am a naturalized U.S. citizen.  I'm the

         19  Founder and Co- Executive Director of African

         20  Services Committee.  I also work with the United

         21  Nations Department of General Assembly/Conference

         22  Management Service.

         23                 African Services Committee is a 26

         24  year old community- based organization providing

         25  critical assistance to African refugees and
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          2  immigrants and other needy members of the larger

          3  community walking through our doors seeking the many

          4  services we provide, such as legal, health, housing,

          5  food pantry, English as a second language classes,

          6  independent living, skill training, translation and

          7  interpretation services, computer training, physical

          8  exercise, such as dancing and yoga classes.

          9                 Besides providing direct services in

         10  collaboration with other immigrant organizations and

         11  immigrant rights groups, we advocate for the

         12  betterment of the living condition of refugee and

         13  immigrant communities.  There are many of us have

         14  entered the U.S. as refugee and immigrants.  Over

         15  the past several years, African Services Committee

         16  has sponsored refugees from Ethiopia, Somalia,

         17  Kenya, Iraq, Afghanistan, Albania and Bosnia.  So,

         18  the care and support we give to our fellow refugees

         19  and immigrants becomes so natural and our advocacy

         20  is real.

         21                 Our clients are hardworking people

         22  who are striving to improve their life condition, as

         23  well as the lives of their families, many with

         24  American born children.  The African immigrant

         25  community is rapidly growing with an estimated
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          2  number of 400,000 and will greatly be affected by

          3  current immigration law.

          4                 We are well aware that the 9/11

          5  tragic event has brought fear and mistrust around

          6  us.  The creation of Homeland Security Department,

          7  followed by aggressive hunt to tracking suspected

          8  terrorists, by means of checking valid and invalid

          9  ID holders has become a living terror and nightmare

         10  for so many innocent hard- working people, but who

         11  hold expired documents.

         12                 Many such honest, decent and

         13  hardworking families were forced to be separated

         14  from their loved ones.  Young children who were born

         15  here from parents who happened to hold expired

         16  documents were forced to lose either one or both

         17  parents as a result of deportation.

         18                 We agree that government should and

         19  must take the necessary action to protect its

         20  citizens, but there should be also by a system in

         21  place to identify criminals.  We are aware and

         22  mindful that only safe and secure America can help

         23  fulfill our dreams.  We have no problem to be part

         24  of the securing and guarding this great nation.

         25  What we are asking America is to continue upholding
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          2  her promise of protecting the weak, rewarding the

          3  honest and hardworking members of the immigrant

          4  community who are free from criminal record and

          5  activities.

          6                 As the immigration debate is picking

          7  up steam and its contours are taking shape, we are

          8  grateful to be invited to share with you the

          9  concerns of our community in the format of

         10  recommendations.  Immigrant  --  recommendations,

         11  sir.

         12                 While the, while we congratulate the

         13  House of Representatives for introducing the

         14  Security Through Regularized Immigration and a

         15  Vibrant Economy Act of 2007, STRIVE Act of 2007 on

         16  March 22, 2007, that bill seeks to take into

         17  consideration aspirations of immigrants and

         18  suggestions of immigrant rights groups, we deeply

         19  believe that the following suggestions, if included,

         20  will surely help address the situation thoroughly.

         21  To that effect, we recommend that:

         22                 Self- employed undocumented

         23  immigrants should be allowed to petition for

         24  themselves.  Undocumented immigrants generally have

         25  difficulty obtaining state- recognized
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          2  identification, opening bank accounts and accessing

          3  other benefits that would provide evidence of

          4  business activity. Because of the lack of a paper

          5  trail due to document their business activities,

          6  civil affidavits should be deemed sufficient to

          7  establish the business history of self- employed

          8  undocumented immigrants.

          9                 As the immigrant laws have changed,

         10  stricter standards have been applied in determining

         11  an individual's eligibility to receive a visa.  In

         12  determining the criteria for conditional non-

         13  immigrant status, the individual's eligibility to

         14  receive a visa pursuant to the Immigration and

         15  Nationality Act should be determined by the

         16  individual's eligibility at the time of their

         17  entrance to the United States.

         18                 The unemployment rule, as stipulated

         19  under Title Four of STRIVE, requires the H- 2C

         20  workers who are unemployed for more than 60 days

         21  leave the United States.  This 60 day time period

         22  should be extended to 90 days.  That will give the

         23  workers a fair amount of time to explore all of

         24  their options and/or to make the necessary

         25  arrangements for transition.
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          2                 Such workers, if during the period of

          3  unemployment, unemployment manage to establish a

          4  private business, should continue to enjoy the

          5  benefit of their H- 2C visa.  Such provision will

          6  have the advantage of preventing the hardship of

          7  inevitable return, while encouraging and promoting

          8  entrepreneurship within immigrant communities.

          9                 Since 1987, HIV positive foreign

         10  nationals have been banned from entering or

         11  transiting (sic) though the U.S., the majority of

         12  those already living in the U.S. have been barred

         13  from most types of adjustments of status.  For the

         14  few that qualify, they have to overcome an extremely

         15  onerous waiver standard.

         16                 In the context of the comprehensive

         17  immigration reform, we recommend immigrants equally

         18  benefit from that law regardless of their HIV

         19  status.  Deciding otherwise will be an act of

         20  stigmatization of people living with HIV, which is

         21  the main barrier to stemming that pandemic.  Thank

         22  you so much.

         23                 MR. SALYER:  Good afternoon.  I'm

         24  J.C. Salyer and I'm the Staff Attorney for the Arab-

         25  American Family Support Center, a non- profit
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          2  organization located in Brooklyn.  We assist

          3  immigrant New Yorkers with a variety of services,

          4  including family and child welfare services, health,

          5  access to health care services, English as a second

          6  language classes and legal assistance with

          7  immigration issues.

          8                 I thank the Chairman and the

          9  Committee on Immigration for conducting these

         10  Hearings regarding New York City's interest in

         11  comprehensive immigration reform and for providing

         12  our organization an opportunity to provide testimony

         13  on some of the aspects of this issue that are of

         14  particular concern for our organization.  I'll try

         15  not to repeat any of the excellent remarks that have

         16  been made by previous testimony and will give you

         17  sort of a more general perspective on what our

         18  organization's concerns are with respect to

         19  comprehensive immigration reform.

         20                 New York City is perhaps the

         21  quintessential example of how immigrants contribute

         22  in a myriad of positive ways to the diversity,

         23  productivity and vibrancy of a community. Because of

         24  this fact, this Committee and the City Council not

         25  only have a significant interest in assuring that
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          2  federal immigration legislation reflects of the

          3  needs of the City and its residents, but this

          4  Committee is in an excellent position to make

          5  significant contributions to the national debate on

          6  immigration reform by showing how policies that

          7  respect and protect the rights of all people

          8  ultimately benefit everyone, non- citizens and

          9  citizens alike.

         10                 There is little debate over the need

         11  to reform the federal immigration scheme and its

         12  laws and regulations.  There is, however, a deep

         13  divide over what changes should be made and how

         14  desired outcomes can be achieved.  Generally

         15  speaking, the debate has been discussed as having

         16  two main components.  The first being the need to

         17  reform the availability of immigration benefits to

         18  reflect the actual social and economic realities of

         19  the United States.  The second being the need to

         20  reform the enforcement of immigration laws.

         21                 Much of the debate about providing

         22  ways for people who have been living and working in

         23  the United States to obtain legal permanent status

         24  and a path to citizenship has been centered around

         25  claims that such programs would be amnesty or would
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          2  reward people for breaking the law.  Such claims,

          3  however, ignore the complicated history of

          4  immigration policy, which has promoted the use of

          5  immigrant labor, both documented and undocumented,

          6  for the benefit of the United States economy, but

          7  has often left the legal status of immigrants

          8  uncertain.

          9                 This pattern is consistent from the

         10  use of Chinese labor in the last decades of the 19th

         11  century, to the use of Mexican labor since the

         12  beginning of the 20th century, such as in programs

         13  as the Bracero program, the current long- standing

         14  de facto policy of non- enforcement laws prohibiting

         15  the employment of undocumented workers.  For

         16  instance, in 2004, there were only three cases where

         17  employers were fined for employing undocumented

         18  workers.  It is also clear that the United States

         19  policy has been to tacitly accept undocumented

         20  workers in the United States because the labor has

         21  been a significant net benefit to the domestic

         22  economy.

         23                 Thus, the current population of

         24  undocumented workers is the result of a historic

         25  policy that was ambiguous at best and it is
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          2  inaccurate to claim that migration by undocumented

          3  workers is simply a matter of "illegals" not

          4  respecting United States law.  Given this history,

          5  the focus of reform should not be to construct a

          6  legal system  --  I'm sorry, given this history, the

          7  focus of reform should be to construct a legal

          8  system that conforms to the social and economic

          9  realities, rather than one that imposes onerous and

         10  punitive burdens in the name of restoring rule of

         11  law.

         12                 Most importantly, reform should break

         13  with the long history of placing immigrant workers

         14  in a legal twilight zone, which renders them easily

         15  exploitable and should include a path to permanent

         16  status and eventual citizenship, while fully

         17  protecting uniform workplace rights for all workers.

         18                 Without getting too specific, in many

         19  respects, I believe the STRIVE Act begins to address

         20  this need with Title Four of the Act's eventual

         21  earned legalization program, the including of a form

         22  of the DREAM Act and the forward- looking visa

         23  programs that attempt to provide sufficient new

         24  employment- based visas to meet economic needs,

         25  while recognizing the social importance of providing
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          2  for immigration opportunities to achieve family

          3  unity.

          4                 By contrast, the proposal recently

          5  floated by the Bush Administration in a March 28,

          6  2007 White House PowerPoint presentation seems

          7  intent on continuing to relegate immigrant laborers

          8  to second class status.  Moreover, the plan assesses

          9  substantial penalties against workers who are

         10  seeking permanent legal status, what the PowerPoint

         11  presentation calls "the equivalent of a felony fine"

         12  in spite of the fact that being undocumented is not

         13  a crime, not even a misdemeanor.

         14                 Additionally, the White House

         15  proposal dismisses America's historic interest in

         16  promoting family unity as "out of balance because it

         17  favors the lucky, those lucky enough to have

         18  relatives here over those with valuable talents and

         19  education." I would suggest that one might well

         20  question the wisdom and morality of a immigration

         21  policy which proposes to promote brain drain from

         22  developing nations at the cost of dividing families

         23  in the United States.  Of course, a PowerPoint

         24  presentation is a long way from being a piece of

         25  legislation.  But, I raise these points to show that
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          2  even the present status quo could be made worse by

          3  ill- conceived reforms.

          4                 The second area where the reform

          5  debate is focused has been the enforcement of

          6  immigration laws.  If comprehensive immigration

          7  reform results in an immigration system that fairly

          8  represents the historic, social and economic

          9  realities of our society, it should certainly be

         10  enforced and the necessary resources should be

         11  committed to see that it is enforced effectively and

         12  equally.

         13                 It is, however, unacceptable to

         14  accept harsh punitive measures which fail to respect

         15  civil liberties and due process as the political

         16  price for obtaining reforms in other areas.  In

         17  fact, we start from a position where previous

         18  legislation has already limited procedural and due

         19  process protections.  The two laws that have already

         20  been mentioned that were passed 1996, the

         21  Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act, AEDPA

         22  and the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigration

         23  Responsibility Act, IIRIRA, curtailed the ability of

         24  immigrants to seek judicial review of deportation

         25  orders in certain cases. These laws also expanded
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          2  the grounds on which immigrants can be detained and

          3  deported.

          4                 As a result of these laws, the

          5  detained population of immigrants in the United

          6  States went up 42 percent between the years of 1996

          7  and 1997.  Further, IIRIRA introduced other harsh

          8  procedures, such as expedited removal, which

          9  resulted in some individuals being removed without a

         10  hearing.  In 2005, the REAL ID Act further limited

         11  some avenues of judicial review.

         12                 Additionally, current immigration law

         13  fails to adequately protect individual civil

         14  liberties.  For instance, following the September

         15  11th attacks on the World Trade Center and Pentagon,

         16  the abuses of the rights of Muslims, Middle Eastern

         17  and South Asian non- citizens were made possible by

         18  the limited rights afforded to immigrants and the

         19  Justice Department's policy of using immigrations

         20  law to detain people without charges, to hold them

         21  incommunicado, to question them without access to

         22  counsel and to try them in secret court proceedings.

         23                 Even though the purpose of the

         24  investigation was criminal, the Justice Department

         25  used the looser standards of the immigration system
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          2  to circumvent individual rights that are ostensibly

          3  protected by the criminal justice system.  The

          4  Justice Department's own Office of Inspector

          5  General, in a 2003 report, found the government had

          6  engaged in serious and repeated violations of

          7  individual rights.  However, there have been no

          8  reforms aimed at preventing this sort of conduct in

          9  the future.

         10                 To the contrary, the immigration

         11  reform bills introduced in the previous Congress

         12  would have continued the pattern of criminalizing

         13  the status of being an immigrant and would have

         14  continued to roll back the rights of immigrants.

         15  Congressmen Sensenbrenner and King's H.R. 4437,

         16  which passed the House of Representatives last year,

         17  would have made felons out of millions of

         18  undocumented workers and anyone who would provide

         19  assistance to those, to undocumented immigrants,

         20  even someone simply lending money to a relative.

         21                 Equally concerning were bills that

         22  attempted to enlist local law enforcement and local

         23  officials in immigration. As has been mentioned,

         24  this City has rejected those sorts of arguments, as

         25  is reflected in Executive Order 41.  Skip over that.
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          2    Some proposed bills would also similarly chill

          3  immigrants' access to public services by including

          4  immigration status in the National Criminal

          5  Information Center database.

          6                 Finally, a number of proposed bills

          7  would have further increased the grounds on which

          8  immigrants must be deported and further limited the

          9  discretion of immigration judges to treat people as

         10  individuals, which constitutes, which continues a

         11  trend started with the 1996 laws.  These sorts of

         12  get tough measures have famously resulted in

         13  inequitable results with immigrants who have lived

         14  their entire lives in the United States being

         15  deported for minor criminal violations.  Thus,

         16  rather than compounding these injustices,

         17  comprehensive immigration reform should restore

         18  judicial discretion and end unduly harsh immigration

         19  penalties for minor offenses.

         20                 New York City has benefitted greatly

         21  from its immigrant heritage and the foreign- born

         22  members of the community and it has done so while,

         23  by and large, treating everyone in the community as

         24  equals and recognizing that protecting their,

         25  protecting their individual  --  I'm sorry  --  by
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          2  recognizing and protecting their individual rights.

          3                 For instance, we know that when you

          4  protect the rights of undocumented workers to

          5  receive the state minimum wage, you protect all

          6  workers' ability to receive the minimum wage. New

          7  York City's experience gives it unique authority to

          8  advocate for comprehensive immigration reform that

          9  acknowledges the important contributions made to our

         10  society by immigrants, documented and undocumented,

         11  and which provides a path for people to obtain equal

         12  legal rights and status, equal legal rights and

         13  status they deserve.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I have one

         15  question that I wanted to ask.  In this new bill,

         16  have you seen anything that is close to the

         17  provision in the H.R. 4437, which basically calls

         18  for criminalizing anyone who helps an undocumented?

         19                 MR. SALYER:  No.  STRIVE does not

         20  contain anything close to  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Nowhere in the

         22   --

         23                 MR. SALYER:  --  The  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Nowhere in the

         25  bill that it has anything in terms of anyone who
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          2  helps an immigrant?  For example, in some states, in

          3  some cities, you may have bills whereby landlords

          4  are not allowed to rent to an undocumented and

          5  they're being punished.  I'm asking, in a similar

          6  vein, in this bill, is there anywhere in this bill

          7  that it calls for punishment for anyone who assists

          8  or who knowingly helps an undocumented?

          9                 MR. SALYER:  There's nothing with the

         10  sweep of the Sensenbrenner bill from last session or

         11  that's similar to these local ordinances that have

         12  been passed in some municipalities.  I can, I'm

         13  trying to think about the border enforcement

         14  statutes and someone else may be able to speak to

         15  that with greater, greater detail.  But, there are,

         16  the early titles of STRIVE are focusing on

         17  enforcement, both border enforcement and employment

         18  enforcement.

         19                 I know that, I remember reading that

         20  there's a provision, sort of a safe harbor for

         21  providing humanitarian assistance to people crossing

         22  borders, which leads me to believe that there's

         23  punishment for anyone else.  But, you know, there's

         24  simply nothing in STRIVE that's the same sort of

         25  attempt to criminalize just the status of being an
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          2  alien or the sort of assistance that the

          3  Sensenbrenner law would have had.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right,

          5  well, you have a question Council Member?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Please correct

          7  me.  In one of your statements, you said that, is

          8  there anything in the bill regarding HIV or people

          9  with AIDS in this STRIVE bill?

         10                 MR. HADERA:  No.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  You said it's

         12  not.

         13                 MR. HADERA:  Yeah, no.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Is that

         15  something they should be addressing just as well?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I'm not too

         17  sure, Council Member, but I think, currently,

         18  certain diseases are not, you know, folks with

         19  certain types of diseases have to be screened or

         20  they may not be given a visa to come into this

         21  country.  I think that's what the gentleman was

         22  alluding to, HIV is one of those diseases not

         23  allowed, folks with that are not allowed to get a

         24  visa currently.  He's stating that basically that

         25  should be included in part of the bill, that they
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          2  should be allowed to be participating in this bill.

          3                 Well, we are discriminating, you

          4  know, in everything in this world there is some form

          5  of discrimination, so I think this is one of them.

          6  All right.  Thank you gentlemen. Thank you for your

          7  testimony.  We will reach out to you again in future

          8  debates.  Thank you.

          9                 MR. DOHERTY:  Thank you so much.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  The next panel is

         11  Elana Broitman from UJA, Diane Steinman, from

         12  American Jewish Committee and Mark Hetfield from

         13  HIAS.  Again, I just wanted to re- state the

         14  following panels after this one will be Mario

         15  Russell from Catholic Charities, Anthony Ng from

         16  United Neighborhood Houses, Siddhartha Sanchez from

         17  Congressman Jose Serrano's office and then the panel

         18  after that will be representatives from the

         19  Northwest Bronx Community and Clergy Coalition,

         20  Mohamad Gusmael and Emmanuel Caicedo.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  If you can just

         22  identify yourself and then we can start.  Thank you.

         23                 MR. HETFIELD:  I'm Mark Hetfield with

         24  the Hebrew Immigrant Aid Society here in New York.

         25  HIAS is the international migration arm of the
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          2  American Jewish community, but was started here in

          3  New York City 126 years ago as an immigrant

          4  assistance organization on Ellis Island.

          5                 Since that time, we have assisted

          6  over 4.5 million refugees and migrants around the

          7  world by providing assistance, resettlement in

          8  communities nationwide and citizenship and other

          9  services to immigrants and refugees.  HIAS

         10  headquarters remains in New York City, a City which

         11  has always embodied the greatness which hard working

         12  immigrants and refugees can bring to a society.

         13                 We are here today, however, because

         14  we, together with our close partners, the New York

         15  Federation and the American Jewish Committee, want

         16  to ensure that the beacon of the Statue of Liberty

         17  is brightened and not dimmed by legislation

         18  currently under consideration by Congress.

         19                 HIAS and our Jewish community

         20  partners in New York City and throughout the United

         21  States has been actively engaged in advocacy and

         22  support of comprehensive immigrant reform

         23  legislation to address our broken immigration system

         24  in a way that is both workable and humane.  We

         25  believe that for any immigration reform legislation
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          2  to fix the current problems, it must include:

          3                 Border protection policies that are

          4  effective and consistent with American values;

          5                 An opportunity for hard working

          6  immigrants who are already here and contributing to

          7  this country to come out of its shadows, regularize

          8  their status upon satisfaction of reasonable

          9  criteria and, over time, pursue a path to

         10  citizenship;

         11                 Reforms in our family- based

         12  immigration system to significantly reduce waiting

         13  times for separated families who often have to wait

         14  as many as 20 years to be reunited with their loved

         15  ones;

         16                 The creation of legal channels for

         17  workers and their families who wish to migrate to

         18  the U.S. to enter our country in an orderly manner

         19  and to work in a safe environment with their rights

         20  fully protected; and

         21                 Programs to enhance citizenship and

         22  encourage integration of newcomers into American

         23  society.

         24                 We finally have both the Congress and

         25  an Administration that wants to see comprehensive
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          2  immigration reform legislation enacted this year.

          3  In the STRIVE Act, HIAS feels we have a bill which

          4  takes a positive and comprehensive approach to

          5  repairing our broken immigration system.  The bill

          6  may not be perfect, but we support most of its

          7  provisions, including those for tougher border

          8  security and enforcement, those provisions which

          9  hold unscrupulous employers accountable for breaking

         10  our, our nation's labor and immigration laws.  We

         11  also support its new worker program, visa reforms

         12  and earned legalization program for the undocumented

         13  with a path to citizenship, the DREAM Act and the

         14  Strengthening American Citizenship Act.

         15                 HIAS welcomes a STRIVE legislation

         16  which is both practical and humane.  Most of its

         17  major provisions have already been aptly described

         18  by previous witnesses and is in my written

         19  testimony.  I will not repeat that information here.

         20    I will emphasize, however, that we support the

         21  bill's efforts to ensure protection for asylum

         22  seekers through increased detention oversight.

         23                 Specifically, we are pleased that

         24  this legislation includes the Safe and Secure

         25  Detention Act, which provides basic protections and
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          2  safeguards for asylum seekers and other immigrants

          3  who are currently subject, without a hearing, to

          4  detention and expedited removal from the United

          5  States.

          6                 The legislation also addresses the

          7  penal conditions under which asylum seekers are

          8  currently detained, a problem of particular concern

          9  to New York.  Even though the notorious detention

         10  facility in Queens was recently closed by the

         11  Department of Homeland Security, asylum seekers are

         12  now sent across the river to a similar jail- like

         13  facility in Elizabeth, New Jersey and even as far

         14  away as Texas and Arizona.  New York's reputation as

         15  a haven for those fleeing persecution is ill- served

         16  by exporting its asylum seekers to penal facilities

         17  in New Jersey and elsewhere and the STRIVE Act would

         18  address this.

         19                 Senate democrats and republicans are

         20  still working to craft a bipartisan bill.  However,

         21  we are concerned that the White House has begun to

         22  encourage senate republicans to consider measures

         23  which are not consistent with the comprehensive

         24  principles which the President has urged in the

         25  past. Specifically, the proposal by the White House
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          2  reduces or eliminates entire visa categories for

          3  close family members, favors wealthy and well

          4  educated immigrants over poorer immigrants and

          5  unskilled immigrants, and includes harsh and

          6  unrealistic enforcement triggers that make it

          7  virtually impossible for undocumented immigrants to

          8  participate in an earned legalization program.

          9                 New York City has a long- standing

         10  tradition of welcoming immigrants and helping them

         11  integrate and become part of the social fabric of

         12  this City.  We hope that you will continue to

         13  provide leadership to ensure that any legislation

         14  that is passed will embrace immigrants and enhance

         15  their lives as Americans.  Thank you.

         16                 DR. STEINMAN:  Good morning and thank

         17  you for this opportunity to testify.  I'm Diane

         18  Steinman.  I'm the Executive Director of the New

         19  York City Chapter of the American Jewish Committee.

         20  The American Jewish Committee is a national and

         21  international human rights and advocacy

         22  organization, with chapters in major cities

         23  throughout the United States, although I have to say

         24  that ours is the biggest and the best.

         25                 I want to thank the Committee and

                                                            112

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  Kendall Stewart for convening this Hearing.  This is

          3  such an important subject for New Yorkers and, in

          4  fact, for all Americans to be considering.  We are

          5  very grateful that you've provided an opportunity

          6  for issues that are difficult and complicated, but

          7  ultimately enormously important, to be discussed.

          8                 American Jews have consistently

          9  maintained a deep interest in United States

         10  immigration and refugee policies.  Our involvement

         11   --  sorry  --  our involvement in these issues is

         12  rooted in our religious tradition.  The Old

         13  Testament tells us, the strangers who sojourn with

         14  you shall be with you as the natives among you and

         15  you shall love them as yourself, for you were

         16  strangers in the land of Egypt.

         17                 The value placed in Judaism on a fair

         18  and compassionate immigration policy is one we share

         19  with other communities of faith.  In July 2006, AJC

         20  and many other national and local Jewish

         21  organizations, including those represented on this

         22  panel this morning, joined with more than 150

         23  national and local faith- based organizations,

         24  reflecting the full, rich diversity of American

         25  religious life in a statement of support for
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          2  comprehensive immigration reform, as reflective of

          3  the teaching of our religious traditions, all of

          4  which require us to welcome our brothers and sisters

          5  with love and compassion. Together, the leaders of

          6  our faith communities affirmed the America

          7  symbolized by the Statue of Liberty, which welcomes

          8  the tired, the poor, the huddled masses yearning to

          9  breathe free.

         10                 In light of the values and

         11  commitments embraced by AJC and leaders of the New

         12  York Jewish community, we are particularly proud of

         13  our City and its tradition of celebrating diversity

         14  and embracing immigrants as a wellspring of New

         15  York's vitality and prosperity.  Although many

         16  issues facing immigrants today remain to be

         17  addressed and my colleague, Elana Broitman, will

         18  speak to some of those this morning, many policies

         19  have been enacted that treat immigrants, both

         20  documented and undocumented, with justice and

         21  compassion.  The Executive Order 124, which assures

         22  access to City services for all New Yorkers,

         23  regardless of immigration status, is an outstanding

         24  example of such a policy.

         25                 In an American political culture
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          2  often marred by an ugly xenophobia, our City serves

          3  as a model for America and we are particularly

          4  grateful for this Hearing, so that we can assert our

          5  commitment in the face of such rejectionists.

          6                 This morning, we ask New York leaders

          7  to become part of the pro- CIR lobby, to vigorously

          8  press the Bush Administration and members of

          9  Congress to act now to fix our broken immigration

         10  system and adopt a comprehensive approach to

         11  immigration reform.

         12                 It is clear to us that comprehensive

         13  immigration reform, what I've just referred to as

         14  CIR, is the only approach that can lead both to

         15  increased security, so essential in this 9/11 world,

         16  and a fair and humane immigration policy.  To put it

         17  simply  --  and I guess we're each putting it in our

         18  own way, so forgive the repetition  --  to put it

         19  simply, a comprehensive approach maintains that we

         20  must secure our borders, but that we cannot achieve

         21  true security unless the millions of undocumented

         22  immigrants who live among us can come out of the

         23  shadows and unless we can create a legal, regulated

         24  way for those who must come to America to work, to

         25  do so, for their benefit and for our own.
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          2                 We are, therefore, extremely

          3  gratified by efforts in the House of Representatives

          4  to revive CIR through the STRIVE Act.  We consider

          5  the STRIVE Act to have many strengths and Mark and

          6  others this morning have enumerated them and I won't

          7  test your patience any further by doing it again.  I

          8  do want to emphasize, however, that the Act would be

          9  strengthened if the trigger mechanism provision in

         10  the Act, as currently written, could be formulated

         11  more precisely.

         12                 This provision is intended to ensure

         13  the implementation both of the enforcement

         14  provisions and the legalization and new workers

         15  provisions, which is what the temporary worker plan

         16  is, is currently called in the Act and charges the

         17  Secretary of DHS with the task of certifying that

         18  the enforcement provisions are being implemented

         19  before the other provisions are implemented.

         20                 We believe that it would assist the

         21  secretary in discharging his responsibility if the

         22  Act were to specify the criteria that should be

         23  applied to determine that the provisions are, in

         24  fact, being implemented.  Since the conclusion that

         25  the, that enforcement provisions are being
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          2  implemented potentially hold hostage the

          3  implementation of the legalization program and the

          4  new worker program, we think this is very critical

          5  for this provision to be properly crafted and,

          6  therefore, properly implemented.

          7                 We also hope that during debates of

          8  the bill, there is a serious consideration of

          9  whether the security benefit provided by the touch

         10  back provision, which has been defined this morning,

         11  warrant the magnitude of the burden created for some

         12  individuals in adhering to the requirement.  It may

         13  be very burdensome for some and it is really

         14  incumbent upon lawmakers to take a serious look at

         15  whether that burden is warranted, that the level of

         16  security produced by asking immigrants to leave and

         17  then come back are really warranted by, by the

         18  burden to them.

         19                 I close by reiterating that the time

         20  for CIR is now.  We have all said it.  We all

         21  believe it very strongly.  We urge, again, that City

         22  officials use their bully pulpit to proudly reaffirm

         23  the tradition of New York City and serve as forceful

         24  advocates for passage of the CIR law during the

         25  current session of Congress.  Thank you for your
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          2  attention.

          3                 MS. BROITMAN:  Chairman Stewart,

          4  Council Member Mealy, thank you very much for

          5  allowing us to make a presentation to you today.  As

          6  you know, I represent UJA Federation of New York,

          7  which helps to serve a broad spectrum of New Yorkers

          8  throughout the five boroughs by supporting a network

          9  of over 100 social service agencies.

         10                 I believe you know us pretty well, so

         11  I won't take your time to describe UJA Federation,

         12  but I would like the opportunity presented today to

         13  thank you for your leadership in ensuring funding

         14  for the Immigration Opportunities initiative, which

         15  allows many of our agencies and many others

         16  throughout the City to provide ESL citizenship and

         17  legal services to immigrants, all the more important

         18  today in view of the federal policy changes, even

         19  just the very debate at the national level, as I'll

         20  explain later.

         21                 Although we raise significant amounts

         22  of philanthropic funding from our donors, which we

         23  use in large part to support the services of our

         24  agencies, the Council's funding is immeasurably

         25  important in, in their ability to serve New Yorkers.
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          2                 As for the pending federal

          3  legislation, as my colleagues on this and the

          4  previous panels have addressed the STRIVE Act

          5  specifically, I would like to share with you

          6  highlights of UJA Federation's immigration

          7  principles, which we hope to see in all immigration-

          8  related legislation.  I've provided you with a full

          9  set of principles, but I'll just highlight a few.

         10                 Overall, our principles on

         11  immigration support a fair and generous immigration

         12  policy, consistent with American and Jewish values.

         13  We recognize that the current system simply doesn't

         14  work and comprehensive reform is needed.  The goal

         15  is an effective system that would provide a timely

         16  and clear pathway, as appropriate, toward

         17  participating in our society to eventually obtain

         18  full citizenship and helping to alleviate the

         19  problem of illegal immigration.

         20                 There are four major cornerstones to,

         21  to our principles.  The current visa system simply

         22  doesn't satisfy our economy's need for workers.  A

         23  large population of undocumented people lives in the

         24  U.S., many of them essential to the functioning and

         25  growth of the economy, yet they have been relegated
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          2  to the shadows of our society.  This has created

          3  terrible hardships for them, while posing serious

          4  security problems for the country.

          5                 So, therefore, our four cornerstones

          6  are one, legalization.  There needs to be a path to

          7  legal status and eventual citizenship over a period

          8  of time and pursuant to an appropriate and

          9  reasonable set of criteria.  Next, a visa program

         10  for new workers to address our economy's demographic

         11  challenge for jobs that U.S. citizens could not

         12  fill.  Enforcement by trained professionals, which

         13  is coupled with an effective legalization and worker

         14  visa system, to help alleviate the problem of

         15  illegal entry.  And, family reunification, which

         16  includes provisions to eliminate or significantly

         17  reduce waiting times, particularly for spouses and

         18  children.

         19                 We also very much support asylum and

         20  refugee provisions.  Our community's historical

         21  commitment to welcoming the stranger, as Diane had

         22  spoken about and, means that we want to see U.S. law

         23  treating refugees and asylum seekers fairly and

         24  humanely.  We call for an officially administered

         25  system that would restore refugee admissions and

                                                            120

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  funding for refugee resettlement services to pre-

          3  9/11 levels.

          4                 Finally, we take special note of

          5  issues of young immigrant adults and are very much

          6  supportive of the DREAM Act. If we are to assure

          7  integration of immigrants and others and their

          8  continued ability to contribute to our society, we

          9  need to focus on immigrant youth, we believe, who

         10  have grown up in this country and need to have

         11  access to higher education and employment

         12  opportunities.

         13                 The issues that really, addressed by

         14  all the people testifying before you today come down

         15  to a very local level.  National policy affects New

         16  York's immigrants before any legislation is even

         17  passed.  The debate around comprehensive immigration

         18  reform that's been happening in Washington and on

         19  television stations around the country have, have

         20  meant a real alarm among immigrants in New York

         21  City.

         22                 As you well know, New York's foreign-

         23  born population is increasing.  For the past several

         24  years, however, federal funding, primarily community

         25  service block grant funding, have been increased,
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          2  in, at risk of, other federal funds, such as WIA,

          3  have likewise been in question from year to year.

          4  Your leadership in finding, funding IOI, of course,

          5  has been a clear recognition of this reality.   Last

          6  year, IOI, was almost half of all of funding that

          7  was available at the City level for immigrant

          8  services.  Those immigrant services are more, are

          9  more important than ever.

         10                 What we hear from our agencies, for

         11  example, are, and I'll just give you a couple of

         12  anecdotes.  What we hear from our agencies is that

         13  the national debate has, has brought many more

         14  clients to their doors because of concerns.  Just to

         15  quote a couple of our agencies.  Immigration

         16  attorneys report that there has been an increase in

         17  requests for consultations due to rising anxiety

         18  over pending legislation.

         19                 For example, people want to know how

         20  they can get a tax ID, so they can file.  They are

         21  concerned about an impending increase in application

         22  fees, so they want to file documents as soon as

         23  possible.  There's a general confusion as something

         24  that, some, that certain change that have been in

         25  the debate have already happened.
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          2                 Immigrant groups are fearing that new

          3  natural, that the new naturalization exam that's

          4  being piloted elsewhere will be too difficult and

          5  they're judging from some of the questions on the

          6  new test and believe that these changes, if they're

          7  implemented in the City, will lead to further

          8  barriers to immigrants seeking citizenship,

          9  especially those with lower incomes.

         10                 Some data have indicated that

         11  approximately ten percent of persons who are passing

         12  the current exam would likely do, to do very poorly

         13  on the redesigned English exam.  And, the fact that

         14  U.S., USCIS plans to propose an increase in the

         15  current $400.00 naturalization application fee alone

         16  imposes a burden on immigrants, especially older

         17  adults, which will all serve to discourage them from

         18  applying for naturalization.

         19                 We believe that USCIS needs, needs to

         20  come up with a plan to provide resources for

         21  dissemination of study guides for the new exam, as

         22  well as funds for CBOs that help applicants prepare

         23  for the examination.  As such, it is particularly

         24  important, as you had mentioned earlier, Mr.

         25  Chairman, that immigration opportunities initiative
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          2  funding continues and is increased, if possible, of

          3  course, to do both ESL and citizenship exams, as

          4  well as legal services.  Because, as we all know,

          5  when a lawyer can come in with an applicant to

          6  USCIS, excuse me, interviews, as well as other

          7  proceedings, it immeasurably helps to ensure that

          8  that applicant is going to be treated fairly.

          9                 Just on the point of IOI, we, we

         10  would hope, however, that the funding does get out

         11  in a more efficient manner, so that groups are able

         12  to provide those services earlier in the year,

         13  rather than wait for some of the gaps that have

         14  occurred in the past.  Anyway, thank you for

         15  allowing me to testify today.  I just wanted to

         16  bring some of these issues down to the local level

         17  for you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I just have one

         19  question. We know, basically, that I think there is

         20  some in the current laws right now that with

         21  Homeland Security you're allowed to, if you don't

         22  want to go your country of birth to pick up your

         23  documents when you become documented, you pay, I'm

         24  not too sure about that, a thousand dollars.  Are

         25  you saying, the touch back, should there be given
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          2  that opportunity, continue to give that opportunity,

          3  because you said that the touch back is a burden on

          4  folks.  Are you saying that should there be a

          5  continuation of that or it should wipe it out

          6  completely?

          7                 MR. HETFIELD:  I think that would be

          8  a wiser approach than the one taken in the

          9  legislation.  You're referring to the 245I

         10  provision, which actually has sunsetted, where you

         11  pay a thousand dollars to adjust in the United

         12  States  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.

         14                 MR. HETFIELD:  --  Instead of having

         15  to go to a consulate?  I think that would be a much

         16  wiser approach.  The approach in the legislation is

         17  more palatable than other approaches that have been

         18  discussed, but it doesn't really seem to serve any

         19  purpose.  It seems to be a waste of resources for

         20  the, for the immigrant, as well as for the

         21  administration of it. I think it will also lead to a

         22  big fear among many immigrants that they won't be

         23  able to come back, if they do that and will

         24  discourage applications.  So, I would agree that the

         25  245I approach would be a better one.
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          2                 DR. STEINMAN:  And if I can just  --

          3  thank you. And, if I can just add, there was some

          4  discussion earlier about disincentives for people to

          5  legalize and we're concerned that this would be one

          6  of them.  We could embrace the downside if it could

          7  be demonstrated that there would be a measurable

          8  increase in security, but, it's hard to see how

          9  there would be.  So, this is, would be one of the

         10  kinds of disincentives to legalization that I think

         11  everybody serious about legalization should be very

         12  concerned about.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  As advocates, I

         14  don't know if you have gone through the legislation

         15  fully yet, but, as advocates, have you really

         16  outlined some of the negatives to our congressional

         17  delegation, so that at least an issue like this one

         18  could be added into the bill, adjusted could be

         19  added into the bill and other such negatives that we

         20  have seen that is a no brainer?  You know, if one

         21  can pay a thousand and be regularized right here,

         22  why go through the hassle of traveling across the

         23  world and spending even ten or 15 times that much

         24  money to get adjusted?

         25                 You know, have you outlined such
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          2  things and sent it to members of the congressional

          3  delegation? Because I think most of the

          4  congressional folks from New York have signed onto

          5  this bill, especially those from New York City.  So,

          6  that might be a good idea for all of us to do, to

          7  outline those issues and send it to them, so that at

          8  least they can bring it to the attention of the main

          9  sponsor and they can change it.

         10                 DR. STEINMAN:  You're absolutely

         11  right and we're all looking forward to intent, to an

         12  intensifying conversation about this bill.  Many of

         13  us intend to be reaching out to our congressional

         14  delegation.  I should say, to be fair to the bill,

         15  and I'm not sure that I was understanding you

         16  correctly, and Mark, you being the Washington expert

         17  on all this, correct me if I'm wrong.  It doesn't,

         18  the touch back provision doesn't require that people

         19  go home and then come back.  It says you must go,

         20  that you leave and return through any legal port of

         21  entry.  I don't think it actually requires people to

         22  go home.  So, it's less, not necessarily compounded,

         23  the burden isn't necessarily compounded by that

         24  particular burden.  Mark, am I right about that?

         25                 MR. HETFIELD:  Yes, that's correct,
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          2  but that does result in a situation where you have

          3  non- Mexicans, for example, going to Mexico and then

          4  potentially facing problems in Mexico.

          5                 DR. STEINMAN:  Right.

          6                 MR. HETFIELD:  So, I would agree that

          7  while this bill, again, is the best thing that we've

          8  seen in a long time, that provision needs to be,

          9  should be addressed and we have raised it as a

         10  concern and will continue to do so.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well  --

         12                 DR. STEINMAN:  What you're absolutely

         13  right about, if I may say, is that it really is up

         14  to all of us to engage in this process of give and

         15  take in debate that crafts the best bill we can.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.  Well, I

         17  feel that the bill pretty good, but there are some

         18  provisions that I think that if we reach out to our

         19  congressional delegations, some of these changes can

         20  take place.  Unless we mobilize and start doing

         21  this, you know, most of the time, for example, you

         22  remember with H.R. 44, they passed it without, we

         23  didn't even know anything about it.

         24                 So, we want to make sure that if

         25  there's something that we don't like, at least
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          2  there's time for us to make the changes and that's

          3  what I'm looking at.  The fact that even though

          4  you're going to a port of entry, any port of entry,

          5  the fact is it's going to cost you money.  The money

          6  that it's going to cost you is much more than a

          7  thousand dollars, because of the fact that you may

          8  have to find a place to stay over or you might go

          9  before the immigration officer over there.  There's

         10  a lot of things that you may have to do which costs

         11  money and it may cost more than a thousand dollars

         12  that is the normal fee right now.

         13                 With that in mind, I feel that if

         14  that could be eliminated.  Again, the thousand

         15  dollars that you're talking about, that could go

         16  straight into the coffers of the Homeland Security,

         17  which then provides for more personnel to be able to

         18  serve future people who need adjustments.  All

         19  right?

         20                 So, once again, I want to thank you

         21  for coming in and testifying.  We, as you said,

         22  Elana, we're going to be trying to see if we can get

         23  a larger portion of the budget, as far as for

         24  immigration and ESL, we're going to, you know, so I

         25  hope that you guys send letters to the Speaker and
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          2  the Finance Chair and all those folks.  Let them

          3  know that with this pending problem that we have of

          4  an influx of immigrants, the community- based

          5  organizations definitely need more money.  So, you

          6  send them letters and I'll be there to back you up.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK:  The next panel is

          9  Mario Russell of Catholic Charities, Anthony Ng of

         10  United Neighborhood Houses and Siddhartha Sanchez of

         11  Congressman Jose Serrano's office.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All you need to

         13  do is identify yourself and start, so that we can

         14  get to the meat of this issue.  If you can limit, as

         15  we said, I don't want to really put a time on you,

         16  but at least a number of things have been said by

         17  other folks who have testified.  If you can limit

         18  and try to make it as expedient as possible and we

         19  will get along.  Thank you.

         20                 MR. NG:  Good afternoon.  It is now

         21  afternoon, right?  Good afternoon Chair Stewart,

         22  Council Member Mealy.  It's good to be before you to

         23  talk to you about this important topic today.  My

         24  name is Anthony Ng and I am the Senior Legislative

         25  Advocate at United Neighborhood Houses.

                                                            130

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 As you know, we are the federation of

          3  settlement houses and community centers.  We have 35

          4  member agencies located throughout New York City and

          5  we provide human services that reach a lot of

          6  immigrants in New York City.  Our members have

          7  offices and locations in some of the City's larger

          8  immigrant communities, such as Sunset Park,

          9  Flatbush, East Harlem, Coney Island, Flushing,

         10  Jackson Heights, throughout the City.  So, for

         11  United Neighborhood Houses, the ability to provide

         12  services, immigrant services and this issue of

         13  immigration reform is of utmost importance.

         14                 As many folks today have spoken about

         15  and mentioned, the STRIVE Act that was recently

         16  introduced is a good starting point this year.  I

         17  think a lot of folks feel it's a much better

         18  starting point than the House bill, the

         19  Sensenbrenner bill from December of 2005.  That, you

         20  know, I think we all feel hopeful that we can, you

         21  know, help to shape this piece of legislation to be

         22  what we need it to be.

         23                 Basically, it's clear to us that in

         24  analyzing the senate bill that was passed last May

         25  and analyzing the STRIVE Act, it's clear that
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          2  legalization, citizenship, the need to learn

          3  English, those are provisions that are being

          4  discussed and being considered and that New York

          5  City needs to prepare itself for legalization, well,

          6  for these measures, should they become part of

          7  immigration reform and we hope and expect that they

          8  will, definitely seeing as how the Congress is now

          9  democratically controlled.

         10                 You know, basically, today, I just

         11  wanted to echo other comments that were made today

         12  that we need to be prepared and that community-

         13  based organizations want to be prepared to provide

         14  English classes for immigrants, immigration legal

         15  services, citizenship assistance, citizenship

         16  application.  We want to be able to do that and be

         17  ready and start the planning now to even expand the

         18  infrastructure to provide these services. Because,

         19  from what we understand, you know, there are

         20  estimates that in New York City there's about half a

         21  million undocumented immigrants.

         22                 So, if you could just imagine that if

         23  we get immigration reform with some of these

         24  legalization measures, those folks are going to need

         25  assistance on their legal matters and eventually
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          2  will need to take civic classes, English classes and

          3  that's on top, that is on top of the already high

          4  demand we have right now.  I'm sure all of you are

          5  aware of the high demand right now.  So, we just

          6  urge that the City begin to plan for this.

          7                 What we understand is that in the

          8  discussion of any immigration reform bill in D.C.,

          9  there are folks, some D.C. Advocates talking about

         10  this, the need to, you know, fund them and provide

         11  funding for some of these services that were key to

         12  implementing fair and just and humane immigration

         13  reform.  So, towards this end, you know, we know

         14  that the City Council is aware of the importance of

         15  immigrant services and we thank you for your ongoing

         16  and strong support of the Immigrant Opportunities

         17  initiative.  We know those dollars make a huge

         18  difference in the community and definitely support

         19  that those dollars are restored by at least $9.2

         20  million again this year.

         21                 I think, long- term, we would love to

         22  see these dollars expanded and even baselined and

         23  would continue to work with you and the Mayor to see

         24  to make that happen.  Funding for these services are

         25  key right now and will become even more so should
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          2  immigration reform come through with some of these

          3  legalization measures that I think we all want and

          4  feel are important.  Thank you.

          5                 MR. SANCHEZ:  Good afternoon Chairman

          6  Stewart, Council Member Mealy.  On behalf of

          7  Congressman Serrano, I want to read a brief

          8  statement regarding comprehensive immigration reform

          9  and legislation that Congressman Serrano introduced

         10  in 2006 and 2007.

         11                 Congressman Serrano is working with

         12  the Congressional Hispanic Caucus to create a

         13  solution for the breakdown of our immigration

         14  system, particularly in light of the impact of the

         15  1996 laws on the City's mixed status immigrant

         16  families.  Working to be part of the solution, his

         17  con sponsorship of STRIVE is part of a long series

         18  of legislative and public actions to address the

         19  hundreds of thousands of foreign born constituents

         20  living in his district of the South Bronx.

         21                 With constituent services related to

         22  family reunification and the immigrant struggle to

         23  keep families together at an all time high, support

         24  for STRIVE represents a significant step forward for

         25  immigration reform.
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          2                 Originating from the experience of

          3  listening to the differences between every family

          4  affected by deportation, the Child Citizen

          5  Protection Act, the legislation that he introduced

          6  in 2006 and re- introduced in 2007, emphasizes the

          7  individual situations of every immigrant in this

          8  country and as such, restores judicial discretion to

          9  immigration judges to decide in cases where the

         10  parent of a U.S. Citizen faces deportation.

         11                 This bill, like STRIVE, addresses

         12  real constituent needs and it is the Congressman's

         13  desire that restoring judicial discretion to our

         14  immigration system, especially in cases where a

         15  citizen child is affected, is also incorporated into

         16  any comprehensive solution that truly understands

         17  immigrant families. Thank you.

         18                 MR. RUSSELL:  Chairman Stewart,

         19  Council Member Mealy, good afternoon.  Thank you for

         20  having me here.  My name is Mario Russell.  I'm a

         21  Senior Attorney at Catholic Charities in the

         22  Immigration Services Department and a Professor of

         23  Law at Saint Johns Law School.  I will heavily

         24  abridge my written remarks, not repeating what I

         25  think we have repeated in the past, of course, which
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          2  is that Catholic Charities is one of the largest

          3  immigration legal services providers in New York

          4  City and in the state.  To that end, obviously, we

          5  have communicated frequently and at length about the

          6  needs in that respect.

          7                 What we are seeing, I think, is, in

          8  our work, is kind of the echoes, really, of the

          9  problems of the undocumented, seeing through the

         10  struggles that they face in work and wages, in

         11  housing and in health care.  The, the issues are not

         12  new, but I think they are exacerbated because time,

         13  which is to say close to 20 years since the last

         14  really significant reform in this regard, accrues

         15  almost inimically to the undocumented, as they

         16  suffer the difficulties and the difficult choices

         17  they have to make between being productive members

         18  and, I would think, in that sense, citizens of our

         19  City and of our state and of our nation, and also

         20  those who have to make the choices to provide for

         21  their families in one way or another.

         22                 What we see and I'm sure that you see

         23  and you hear about through your constituencies, is

         24  the difficulties in housing, the difficulties in

         25  work and wage, fairness relating to the two and as
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          2  well as, obviously, as health care.  It is a reality

          3  that we cannot escape and I think that we have to

          4  deal with and I think that in these sense, Catholic

          5  Charities and the United States Catholic Conference

          6  of Bishops has been very aggressive in trying to

          7  move forward through a program for reform, and we've

          8  heard this words many times, that is fair, just and

          9  humane.

         10                 What we want and what we've been

         11  working on is a workable, earned legalization

         12  program which has a path to citizenship; a

         13  significant backlog reduction for family- based

         14  visas, and we're already seeing potentially the

         15  erosion of that; viable temporary worker program

         16  that protects both U.S. and foreign-born workers,

         17  we've said this many times, it's importance cannot

         18  be understated; and, as I see daily in my litigation

         19  practice, some sort of restoration of due process.

         20                 I think we've seen a remarkable

         21  effort by the federal courts to hang on to some

         22  semblance of tri- partheid government, to the fact

         23  that the courts are, in a sense, franchised, to pay

         24  attention to how individual liberties are protected.

         25    I have to tell you, from first- hand experience,
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          2  it is a, an enormous task, it's an enormous job.  We

          3  have seen, really, the Executive Branch, shifting

          4  its responsibilities over to the federal courts, so

          5  that now the Second Circuit Court of Appeals, a

          6  quarter of its docket, a quarter of its docket is

          7  immigration cases.

          8                 What does this tell us?  This tells

          9  us that, again, there's a sort of a dysfunctional

         10  chronic failure in the administration of laws, which

         11  is really another way of saying that there's a

         12  chronic dysfunctional failure of due process.  So, I

         13  think some of the issues that sort of resonate

         14  around that will be addressed.  I think there's some

         15  problems in the current proposal, but, again, we

         16  welcome that as well.

         17                 In sort of a vernacular statement, I

         18  guess, we, we really support and think that

         19  comprehensive immigration reform is good for three

         20  basic reasons.  First, it's good for the country. It

         21  benefits immigrants who are productive members of

         22  society and doesn't result, therefore, in they're

         23  taking wage jobs from those who are born in the U.S.

         24    It promotes a stability and a development in home

         25  countries through the continual passage of
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          2  remittances to those countries.

          3                 I think one important element of any

          4  comprehensive immigration reform is that attention

          5  be given to the problems of developing countries.

          6  But, most importantly and finally, it is, that such

          7  a program is respectful of human dignity.   I think

          8  that's what we talk about when we say fair, just and

          9  humane laws. It's respectful of human dignity and of

         10  fundamental humane rights and it ultimately

         11  recognizes the indispensable contributions that

         12  immigrants make.

         13                 I think, Chairman Stewart, you've

         14  raised some concerns about, in a sense, the

         15  unfairness of certain provisions and the answer

         16  seems to be often, well, these, there's a political

         17  reality, there's a sort of negotiations, such as

         18  touch back.  We may not get away from that.  All

         19  that is true, but I agree with you that, that it, at

         20  a, at the heart of it, this is not an issue of

         21  throwing the book at immigrants, to say, well,

         22  you're undocumented, therefore you are illegal.  The

         23  question simply is, what is right, fair and just

         24  given the history and the historical contributions

         25  that we have, that immigrants have made to this
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          2  country.

          3                 So, I thank you for this opportunity

          4  to speak and I would, again, refer you to the

          5  written statements for further clarification.  Thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I'm sorry we

          8  didn't have a lot of time to go through all these

          9  issues, because I am, you know, it appears that I'm

         10  learning every day about so many different issues to

         11  deal with immigration and how things change every

         12  day for different people.  Also, a lot of folks,

         13  they suffer as they, you know, they try to make a

         14  living, et cetera.

         15                 I would, as a community- based

         16  organization, Catholic Charities, I know they do a

         17  lot of work for immigrants. Now, you see that we

         18  have about a half of million or more undocumented

         19  folks in New York City.  When and if this bill

         20  passes, what preparation have you been looking into

         21  to deal with this issue?

         22                 MR. RUSSELL:  We've already started.

         23  Actually, we started because we were maybe

         24  unrealistically optimistic about a year ago, when we

         25  heard some good news out of the, out of Washington.
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          2  So, we began to do outreach, we began to do

          3  education through, you know, the over 400 parishes

          4  that we have in our diocese, that includes the City,

          5  through the schools and through about 19 outreach

          6  centers that we operate.

          7                 We've been going to them, presenting

          8  on, obviously, in a hypothetical sense, if

          9  legislation should be passed, here's what you can

         10  begin to think about.  Here is what we have see

         11  historically.  Here's what 1987 IRCA required.  So,

         12  start thinking about this.  Start considering ways

         13  in which you can document your presence, so you can,

         14  you know, sort of begin to show the things that need

         15  to be shown, to show community ties, work employment

         16  history, school history and so on.  So, we've really

         17  been doing this now for almost two years, since,

         18  since the previous iterations were proposed.

         19                 We've also now, in fact, hired

         20  someone who is going to be a point person to do

         21  education and outreach on just this issue, the

         22  importance of comprehensive immigration reform, to

         23  reach out both to community leaders that we work

         24  with, as well as the population itself, to educate

         25  both and to coordinate an effort with the folks that
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          2  we are routinely in touch with in Washington,

          3  through the United States Catholic Conference.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  The gentleman

          5  from Congressman Serrano's office, would you be

          6  willing to take back a message that we are happy

          7  that this bill is being introduced, but there are

          8  one or two provisions that we would like to see

          9  changed or for him to look at and there might be

         10  folks who are reaching out to him?

         11                 One of those provisions we spoke

         12  about, which is the touch back provision, if that

         13  could be looked at for it be working like maybe the

         14  245I.  Maybe you can take that back to him, let

         15  them, you know, and some of the folks, the

         16  immigration folks in New York City, he can reach out

         17  to them and see what are some of the provisions that

         18  you think we can try to tinker with, so as to make

         19  sure that we have, you know, a better bill.  I'm not

         20  saying that this one is not good.  I'm saying a

         21  better bill that will satisfy a lot of the folks in

         22  New York City.

         23                 MR. SANCHEZ:  No, thank you for that,

         24  Chairman.  I will definitely relay that specific

         25  provision.  Definitely, many of the advocates in the
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          2  room here today are folks that we work with closely.

          3    I think there's still some coming up that are

          4  actually from the Bronx.

          5                 The, the reality of the bill is that

          6  it is a tremendous step forward, but, at the same

          7  time, there is room for improvement.  We are, you

          8  know, working through those recommendations as far

          9  as what's feasible and how to work those, those

         10  recommendations and possible alterations, including

         11  the, the bill that the Congressman himself has

         12  introduced, which addresses judicial discretion in

         13  the case of citizen children as one example of a

         14  type of provision that's not included right now in

         15  the STRIVE Act.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Mr. Ng, we

         17  already spoke about this earlier, but you raised it

         18  and when you raise it, I feel that I can throw this

         19  back at you in terms of the funding that we in the

         20  City Council try to do.  Maybe you can put on paper

         21  the idea of the fact that this 9.2 that we are

         22  getting is inadequate and show us and show the

         23  Administration, show the Speaker that is definitely

         24  not adequate.

         25                 I have seen it.  A lot of folks have
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          2  been talking to me since, for the past year, saying

          3  this money is inadequate to deal with the influx of

          4  folks who need to learn English, the immigration

          5  problem they have to go through, the legal part of

          6  it that they can't get, they can't get help because

          7  the different in the Legal Aid and the different

          8  Catholic Charities, they have to cut their staff in

          9  terms of folks who are working on maybe the legal

         10  aspect of immigration or even just fill out forms.

         11  They don't have enough resources and maybe they will

         12  see that.

         13                 You know, if over half a million

         14  people are here that needs help and some of them,

         15  you don't only deal with people who are

         16  undocumented, you deal with people who are

         17  documented also.  You do a lot of work.  Immigration

         18  is not only people that are undocumented.  There are

         19  people with their green cards, there are people who

         20  need to become citizens, et cetera.  The fact is, we

         21  talk about a half of million that is undocumented,

         22  but there are quite a lot of folks who are here that

         23  are documented.  So, I will guesstimate, I will say,

         24  about 1.5 million people here don't have

         25  citizenship, or even more.  All right?

                                                            144

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 MR. NG:  We continue to advocate to

          3  the Mayor's Office about the need to increase these

          4  services.  I agree and I think in my comments, I did

          5  mention that, you know, if we think about the

          6  undocumented that could get legalized through a fair

          7  and just immigration reform bill, that's on top of

          8  the need right now.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.

         10                 MR. NG:  That's on top of the need

         11  right now.  You know, we have, we continue and we

         12  will continue, we have and we will continue to make

         13  advocacy to the Mayor's Office about the need for

         14  increasing these services.  We've talked to the

         15  Mayor's people about looking to baseline IOI.  DYCD

         16  issued an immigrant services RFP earlier this year

         17  and we said that, you know, the funding there is

         18  inadequate and we urged them to find more funding.

         19  You know, we will continue to do that and we would

         20  love to continue the work with the City Council on

         21  some of these initiatives and advocacy as well.

         22                 In terms of your request about

         23  putting on paper the need to increase these dollars,

         24  I think that's something that we could do.  I mean,

         25  we actually did send a letter with the Immigration
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          2  Coalition and UJA Federation New York already this

          3  year, to ask the Mayor to baseline IOI at $15

          4  million.

          5                 We are also working on a separate

          6  adult literacy request right now.  There's a new RFP

          7  coming out from DYCD for adult literacy services,

          8  which includes ESOL, but also includes GED, adult

          9  basic education, basic education in native language,

         10  hopefully.  This, you know, our literacy services

         11  for immigrants and non- immigrants, we've been

         12  advocating to have RFP be up to $20 million.  So, we

         13  hope to see something in the Executive Budget.

         14                 So, you know, we will continue on our

         15  advocacy and we would love to continue working with

         16  you, Chairman Stewart, Council Member Mealy, and the

         17  Council on doing what we need to do to get the

         18  resources needed for immigrant services.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

         20  Well, you know, I'll be looking for your support in

         21  terms of reaching out to the Administration and the

         22  Speaker to get more money for this immigration

         23  project.  Once again, I want to thank you folks for

         24  coming in.  You'll be hearing from us in the near

         25  future.  Thank you.

                                                            146

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Our last panel

          3  Muhamedou Gusmael from the Northwest Bronx Community

          4  and Clergy Coalition, Emmanuel Caicedo from

          5  Northwest Bronx Community and Clergy Coalition and

          6  Joanne Macri from NYSDA Immigrant Defense Project.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Folks, if you

          8  can just get right into it by identifying yourselves

          9  and we can start.  Make sure the button, the light

         10  is off.

         11                 MR. CAICEDO:  Yup.  My name is

         12  Emmanuel Caicedo and I work with the Northwest Bronx

         13  Community and Clergy Coalition.  It's a community-

         14  based organization up in the Bronx. We work on, we

         15  fight for social and economic justice across the

         16  spectrum of issue areas, including education and

         17  immigration.  I am the organizer with the Immigrant

         18  Rights Committee and I'm here with a leader from the

         19  Immigrant Rights Committee.

         20                 MR. GUSMAEL:  Mohamedou Gusmael.

         21                 MR. CAICEDO:  And today we're here to

         22  speak with you about the STRIVE Act.  You've heard

         23  from the experts the pros and the cons.  It's a good

         24  thing that it was introduced, but where we are right

         25  now in our community, there's a sense of urgency.
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          2  People are being deported.  Something must happen

          3  and it is not guaranteed that this bill will pass.

          4  The New York Congressional Members, only four of

          5  them have signed on to, have co- sponsored the bill.

          6    Yesterday, we met with Elliot Engel (phonetic) who

          7  is pro- immigrant, has very progressive views, but

          8  for one reason or the other, he still hasn't signed

          9  on.

         10                 So, we're here, I thank the Chairman

         11  and Council Member Mealy for having this

         12  opportunity, but we're asking the New York City

         13  Council, the New York City government, as a City of

         14  immigrants, we need your voice, we need your

         15  leadership on this national issue.

         16                 We need you to stand up and tell the

         17  Congressional Members to, to pass this reform,

         18  because, right now, it's not going to pass in the

         19  House.  It only has 39 co- sponsors in general.  So,

         20  the questions that we're asking if it will pass, it

         21  may pass, but we need to put pressure on it.  Right

         22  now, I'll let Muhamedou speak about a personal

         23  experience up in the Bronx.

         24                 MR. GUSMAEL:  Good afternoon.  My

         25  name is Muhamedou Gusmael from North Bronx Community
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          2  Immigrants Rights and also Islam Centers in the

          3  Bronx.  Like last week, I just want to remind all

          4  those that thinking about it, they have catch many

          5  peoples in our communities, getting deported and

          6  have bunch of families.

          7                 Some of, some of them who I

          8  recognized that guys' family's in bad conditions

          9  because he has five kids.  That five kids, three

         10  kids are no normal kids, they're like, one is like

         11  11 years and six years and seven years.  Those kids

         12  are very bad condition.  The mommies, daddies, when

         13  mommies go outside, daddies have to wait inside

         14  their rooms.  But, now they catch the daddies last

         15  week.  He's in the prison now, Texas because he has

         16  no criminal, because he has no papers.

         17                 It's very bad.  When you go to

         18  families there, it's very bad conditions.  The guy's

         19  here like 17 years.  He work hard, pay taxes and

         20  after they catch another guy, that guy has papers

         21  already.  But, officer was asking him, do you know

         22  this guy who we're looking for?  He said, no, I

         23  don't know, I have no idea.  I don't know where's

         24  this guys.  He said, okay, if you don't tell us,

         25  we're going to arrest you too.  He say, I don't
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          2  know.  Then, they arrested the guy.

          3                 The second day, a family members was,

          4  go to him, bail him, about $5,000.00 they pay that

          5  to get guy out.  He has papers already.  Another

          6  guy, they catch him that has, they open door for

          7  them, he has no shoes, they catch him.  He tell

          8  them, officer let me take my shoes.  They say, no,

          9  you have no time, you have to go outside now.  Let's

         10  go.  He goes out on Federal Plaza without no shoes.

         11                 We come to America to get a better

         12  life, better knowledge and better futures.  But, now

         13  we're really scared about what happen to us now.

         14  We're asking your Members, leaders, please help us,

         15  we and our families in our neighborhoods.  What

         16  happen to us now is very bad.  Everyone, please pass

         17  the bill quick.  We are not here for criminal, we

         18  are here to make money and get a future, better

         19  life.  That's all that we're here. Thank you and God

         20  bless America.

         21                 MR. CAICEDO:  God bless America.

         22                 MS. MACRI:  Thank you and good

         23  afternoon.  First of all, I'd like to thank Chairman

         24  Stewart and Council Member Mealy for allowing us

         25  this last opportunity for the New York State
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          2  Defenders Association, Immigrant Defense Project, to

          3  speak this afternoon.  We find it an honor to have

          4  an opportunity to have a discussion about what our

          5  services are and what we're trying to provide to the

          6  community at this time.

          7                 We are, first I'd like to say we very

          8  much appreciate the efforts that the City Council

          9  has made in the past in terms of funding the

         10  possibility of immigration services in New York

         11  City.  However, we are asking at this time for City

         12  Council to consider a City- wide funding for

         13  providing back- up legal services that work directly

         14  in support of the New York City organizations and

         15  their advocates for the immigrant communities of

         16  this City.

         17                 More specifically, I'd like to tell

         18  you a little bit about our services and what we do.

         19  Right now, there is much discussion in terms of the

         20  possibility of legalization that's coming out of

         21  Washington.  Although we favor the opportunity for

         22  legalization to be introduced, one of the concerns

         23  that we strongly have at this time is that it will

         24  widen a net for people to come forward and possibly

         25  find themselves exposed to things like mandatory
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          2  detention without bond, deportation, removal and, as

          3  we understand it, permanent expulsion from the

          4  United States.

          5                 In particular, we've seen many, many

          6  cases, hundreds of cases of individuals who are

          7  lawful, permanent residents, green card holders, who

          8  face the same situation time and time again.  For

          9  example, they come forward, they make an application

         10  for citizenship with respect to the naturalization

         11  process.  They find that this is their opportunity

         12  to commit themselves to become an American citizen,

         13  only to find out that when they get to the

         14  interview, they never were provided with the

         15  information, the advice or the legal services

         16  available to them to understand that they may not

         17  only not become a citizen, but they will possibly

         18  face permanent expulsion from the United States

         19  because of some past contact that they've had with

         20  the criminal justice system.  We see this incident

         21  time and time again.

         22                 I'd like to just briefly explain how

         23  I came to know something about the Immigrant Defense

         24  Project.  I come to this City Council as a prior

         25  immigration attorney from Upstate New York of all
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          2  places.  At the time, I end up having a client who

          3  came in to see me through detention because he was

          4  held in detention by the Immigration Customs

          5  Enforcement, who was from Bensonhurst.

          6                 This particular individual was a

          7  Vietnam vet.  He actually was enlisted during the

          8  Vietnam War for two terms and received honor

          9  discharges after each term.  He comes back to

         10  Brooklyn, New York and finds that he's developed a

         11  drug habit after being released from his service

         12  military services and he gets hooked on Methadone.

         13  Subsequent to this problem, he finds himself in a

         14  park and in desperation he sells $10.00 worth of

         15  Methadone to an undercover police officer.

         16                 This happened to be during the time

         17  of the Anti terrorism and Effective Death Penalty

         18  bill that was passed in April of 1996, right on the

         19  cusp of the Immigration Reform Act in September of

         20  1996.  It was through the information, advice and

         21  services that I received from Andy Vargas

         22  (phonetic), the originator of the Immigrant Defense

         23  Project, that I was able to prevent this individual

         24  from being removed from the United State

         25  permanently.
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          2                 This was at the same time that his

          3  eldest daughter was enlisting herself to the U.S.

          4  Military, so that she could participate in the

          5  military service, same as her father.  The reason he

          6  came into custody was because he happened to go down

          7  to 26 Federal Plaza, make an application for

          8  citizenship.  An officer there who was being helpful

          9  went through the application with him and said, if

         10  you've ever been arrested for any type of drug

         11  crimes, please cross here and indicate what it was

         12  you were arrested for.  She was being helpful.  He

         13  subsequently ended up in detention and he was facing

         14  the possibility of removal.

         15                 These are the kinds of services that

         16  this City requires, especially in the face of the

         17  possibility of legalization with respect to people

         18  coming forward, hoping that they're going to improve

         19  their lives, not only their lives, but their

         20  family's lives and actually becoming supportive

         21  community members, they find themselves, in fact,

         22  facing immigration consequences that they never, in

         23  fact, expected to encounter. This is where the back-

         24  up legal services, we believe, is essential.

         25                 Right now, the Immigrant Defense
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          2  Project, we provide a range of services to the New

          3  York City community and their immigrant communities,

          4  more specifically.  We provide a hotline where we

          5  actually provide counseling on that hotline and

          6  legal advice.  That is available, basically, seven

          7  days a week. We have specific hotline hours where

          8  you get attorneys live. But, in the interim, we also

          9  make call backs.

         10                 We have trainings that we provide to,

         11  we're now doing trainings for community

         12  organizations.  We've been invited to do trainings

         13  for defenders' offices and for immigration judges in

         14  the past.  We also provide materials, we produce

         15  citizenship guides and application materials, so

         16  that people could understand what the possible

         17  consequences can be if they go forward in presenting

         18  themself to the immigration service, having some

         19  type of past contact with the criminal justice

         20  system.

         21                 We are here today just to remind,

         22  respectfully, Chairman Stewart and City Council

         23  Member Mealy, that in this particular instance, to

         24  remember that it's these back- up legal services

         25  that provide the support to the community
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          2  organizations, advocates of families, directly to

          3  families and immigrants in this community that will

          4  somehow help the flow of any legalization to

          5  basically become a smooth flow, where individuals

          6  are able to go forward in a way that will allow them

          7  to be supportive members of this community.

          8                 In terms of, more specifically, in

          9  terms of our organization at the present time, what

         10  we're trying to do at this time is to increase the

         11  output of legal advice and information that's

         12  available to the New York City community, so that

         13  when these bills pass from Washington, they are best

         14  informed on how to deal with individuals who may

         15  have had that past contact with the criminal justice

         16  system.  And, I open it up to any questions

         17  regarding our services or, and I know it's been a

         18  long afternoon, so I didn't want to keep my

         19  testimony too long.  I'd be more than willing to

         20  follow- up with a more extensive testimony.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I want to thank

         22  you for your testimony.  I, in terms of, I share

         23  your sentiment with the funding aspect.  As I said

         24  recently, I'm going to be working hard to see if we

         25  can increase it.

                                                            156

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 I think there should be a separate

          3  part of money for those folks who do legal, when we

          4  talk legal, in the sense of representing people who

          5  are in deportation, representing them in terms of

          6  before an immigration judge, things like that.

          7  There is no set aside for that.  I've been asking

          8  for that from within the City Council with the

          9  Speaker.  Hopefully, something will change this time

         10  around.

         11                 We had done that in the first year

         12  that we have gotten, when the initiative first came

         13  out.  We had, I had made the determination that some

         14  of these larger groups that do legal work should get

         15  proper funding or get some money to do that type of

         16  work.  But, the formula changed last year, whereby

         17  the Council Members were giving a portion of the

         18  money to distribute to groups that they desire.

         19                 We see the failure of that process,

         20  whereby some of these groups, the Legal Aid, the,

         21  your group and other groups that really do need help

         22  in terms of providing defense work or helping folks

         23  who go before an immigration judge or who are in

         24  deportation order.  Sometimes it's a simple thing to

         25  do, but it can only be done with an attorney or with
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          2  people who understand the legal immigration.

          3                 So, if there is no resource to deal

          4  with that, I think there's a big part of the

          5  immigration, a big part of the immigration focus is

          6  lost.  So, I'll be going back to the Speaker and

          7  will be talking to my colleagues to see, basically,

          8  if there's any increase that we do now can

          9  specifically go to areas like that, helping public

         10  defenders, the immigration folks, Legal Aid and

         11  those Catholic Charities, those folks who deal with

         12  the legal part of defending immigrants.  So, I want

         13  to thank you.  Do you have any questions Council

         14  Member Mealy?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  I wanted

         16  clarification, could you just explain to me a little

         17  bit more?  His daughter went to fill out an

         18  application and said, I guess, on the application is

         19  where have any of your members been convicted of a

         20  crime?

         21                 MS. MACRI:  It was actually the

         22  individual himself.  He went over to 26 Federal

         23  Plaza to pick up an N400 naturalization application.

         24    He had some questions about it and when he spoke

         25  to an immigration, what we call an information
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          2  officer, she went through the form with him to show

          3  him how he needed to fill it out.  On the form

          4  itself, there's a particular portion that asks

          5  whether you've ever been arrested, convicted of any

          6  types of crimes, including a question that asks

          7  about whether you've had any violation of any type

          8  of laws.

          9                 As a result of that, when she brought

         10  that up to him, he freely admitted in this

         11  discussion that he, in fact, had this past

         12  conviction and that is when she asked him to be

         13  seated for a moment and that's when officers came

         14  downstairs to take him into detention.

         15                 It's these types of things, Council

         16  Member Mealy, with all due respect, is, it's this

         17  type of area that needs unique expertise of training

         18  and in terms of information that we have available

         19  that talks to all types of not just legal services

         20  providers, but also community organizations to

         21  educate them in how to protect individuals who've

         22  had any type of contact with the criminal justice

         23  system.  Because, a minimal type of contact could

         24  create basically immeasurable immigration

         25  consequences not just to the immigrant, but to his
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          2  or her families in New York City.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Like the young

          4  man said, if this bill does not pass, or we hope it

          5  passes soon, what is your organization, will your

          6  organization, I know you still have caseloads as of

          7  this day, will that, how will that help, will that

          8  help your organization or will it bombard your

          9  caseload?

         10                 MS. MACRI:  What we've been doing at

         11  the Immigrant Defense Project is we've been focusing

         12  on what we call impact litigation cases.  For

         13  example, we've recently  --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Yes, everyone,

         15  I heard all the  --

         16                 MS. MACRI:  Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  --  Everyone

         18  was saying that, but how would you really handle

         19  thousands of people coming to your office for these

         20  services now?  I know, I listened to you ask those

         21  questions, but I'm still not seeing it.  You said

         22  you hired one more, or I heard others say one more

         23  counselor or lawyer.  It's not that simple, just one

         24  more.  You would need, I mean numerous people.

         25  Where would that money come from?  Are you
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          2  financially stable to handle  --

          3                 MS. MACRI:  We do  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  --  Or will

          5  you, you know, be overloaded and need other help?

          6                 MS. MACRI:  In terms of the Immigrant

          7  Defense Project, our key, I think our key impact on

          8  this commitment, it's a good question you ask

          9  because it is something I'm sure you've been having

         10  to deal with with all the organizations that come

         11  before you today and in the past.  What we do or

         12  what we're belief, our belief is, is to educate the

         13  legal service providers and the organizations, so

         14  that there are key people within those organizations

         15  that could help individuals directly.  We believe

         16  that expands the legal services throughout the

         17  community that way.

         18                 So, what we're doing is, we're

         19  actually making sure that that would increase our

         20  number of availability in terms of making

         21  presentations and trainings to key individuals in

         22  different organizations, so that they can go ahead

         23  and start conducting a screening process for

         24  individuals that they might be assisting in terms of

         25  immigration applications or in terms of other types
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          2  applications that might not be immigration- related,

          3  such as Social Security applications and Medicaid

          4  applications, et cetera, et cetera.

          5                 So, we believe that one of our

          6  benefits that we can provide to the New York City

          7  community is to provide the materials, the

          8  trainings, the back- up support to these

          9  organizations and to individuals in the community,

         10  so that they are better protected with respect to

         11  coming forward if any type of immigration

         12  legalization is proposed.  So, we don't actually

         13  provide as much one on one direct representation,

         14  but our goal is is to make sure that all legal

         15  services have that very specific information that

         16  they need to go forward on representing larger

         17  numbers of immigrant communities within New York

         18  City.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Again, I want

         20  to thank you. I feel for the, I feel the pain that

         21  you're going through in terms of your neighbors and

         22  relatives who were picked up and sometimes it's

         23  because of communication that they get caught up in

         24  this.  But, you know, we at the City Council level,

         25  we can only raise eyebrows and raise issues and talk
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          2  about it and so on. This, that's a federal issue in

          3  terms of how that is being changed.

          4                 What we are doing now is trying to

          5  affect the change.  We're trying to help focus on

          6  some of the changes that need to take place and

          7  that's one of the changes that we would like to see

          8  changed, that they don't do these kinds of raids,

          9  they don't pick up people like that.  And, folks who

         10  are being picked up like that, that need to get help

         11  in terms of becoming documented, we want them to get

         12  that help.  That's what we are doing.

         13                 I know you're saying that there's

         14  urgency and all of that, but the fact is we can't do

         15  what exactly you're asking us to do.  We can only

         16  advocate and bring it to the point whereby we bring

         17  it as an issue to the general public and to our

         18  elected officials who are in Washington, DC.  All

         19  right?

         20                 Having said that, you know, I think I

         21  want to thank you folks for coming in and giving

         22  testimony.  We have learned a great deal today and

         23  we will continue to focus on bringing comprehensive

         24  immigration reform to this country so that at least

         25  there can be some kind of change to help those folks
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          2  who are suffering.  Thank you.

          3                 MR. GUSMAEL:  Thank you.

          4                 MS. MACRI:  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  This meeting is

          6  adjourned.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 1:40 p.m.)
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